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MESSAGE FROM
THE ACTING CHAIR
For the Batchelor Institute of Indigneous
Tertiary Education, 2018 was a year of
turmoil and change. However, throughout
this period, the dedication of our staff,
students, partners and supporters has
remained steadfast. In this monumental
year, challenges and opportunities have
been met with both vigour and tenacity
exemplifying the Institute’s resilience.
As Acting Chair, I would like to take this opportunity to
thank all staff, students, partners and supporters who
have continued to demonstrate their commitment to the
Institute during this time.
In the past 12 months, Batchelor Institute has undergone
significant transformation. Under the new leadership
of Chief Executive Officer, Professor Steve Larkin, the
Institute implemented the Organisational Restructure
Proposal, refreshed both the Council and Finance, Audit,
Risk Management Committee membership as well as
the Executive Leadership team. We have addressed
the recommendations of the Finance and Governance
Review and Organisational Health check Report,
successfully completed the Higher Degrees by Research
re-accreditation, and achieved a no sanction quality
audit outcome from the Australian Skills Quality Authority
(ASQA) compliance audit, all of this occurring whilst
undertaking a critical organisational budget rebuild.
We all have our part to play, albeit in different ways, in
the organisational renewal of the Batchelor Institute. It
is this shared sense of commitment and dedication
that will underpin the future sustainability of the
Institute. Through the implementation of the Finance
and Governance Review and the Organisational Health
check Report recommendations, we have prioritised an
enhanced culture of due diligence to ensure we exercise
the necessary rigour and robusteness in all of our decision
making. This in turn provides for high standards of probity
and an operationalised transparency across the Institute.
We have also prioritised the enabling of structured
opportunities for staff input where appropriate. Batchelor
Institute understands successful change management
relies on the principles of co-design which values the

corporate knowledge and organisational intelligence of
all staff. Therefore, we will continue to work collaboratively
where we can to address difficulties as they arise.
Our continued partnerships, which span the nongovernment and university sectors, Northern Territory and
Federal Governments and into the international education
space of other First Nations higher eduation training
organisations, have also been integral to our performance
in 2018. In the Northern Territory, our partners have
included organisations such as Charles Darwin University,
Walpiri Education and Training Trust, various ranger groups
and the Northern Territory Government’s Departments
of Trade, Business and Innovation and the Department
of the Attorney-General and Justice. Federally we are
engaged with the Australian Government’s Department
of Defence and internationally we are a member of the
World Indigenous Nations Higher Eduation Consortium.
Such partnerships were fundamental to achieving a
number of our strategic as well as operational goals in
2018.
Consistent with our vison of Batchelor Institute as
Australia’s leader in First Nation’s tertiary education
and research, we continued to position the Institute as
a key contributor to Government policy reforms which
impact on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.
As an organisation which occupies a unique space, our
contributions to policy reforms offers the opportunity
to ensure Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples’
interests are prioritised.
Looking to 2019, our commitment to change,
transformation and growth will continue. In 2019 the
Institute will undertake a review of the Batchelor Institute
of Indigenous Tertiary Education Act 1999 and review of
the Institutes’s Strategic Plan will be undertaken. We will
be undertaking reforms in the VET space and will conduct
a review of the Institutes’s higher education program.
As an organisation we will continue to implement the
recommendations of both the Organisational Health
check Report and Finance and Governance Reports. These
are all key projects which require a shared commitment
to excellence across the Institute. We welcome the
opportunities to embrace change and to sustainably
grow and develop in 2019 and the future.
Professor Boni Robertson
31 December 2018
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ELDER’S MESSAGE
Kemec.
I would like to pay my respect to
other Kungarakan Elders and to all
Kungarakan clan Members.
I also acknowledge Warrai People coTraditional Owners-Custodians of the
sovereign lands, the ancient traditional
estates in the Batchelor-CoomalieAdelaide River-Litchfield region.
I also acknowledge all Gurindji Nation
and Mudpurra region People.
I pay my respect to Traditional OwnersCustodians - Arrernte Peoples - at
Batchelor Institute’s other main Central
Australian campus at the Desert Peoples
Centre (DPC).
My recognition and respect goes out to all sovereign
nations’ Peoples at various communities and regions
where Batchelor Institute may have a presence, whether
delivering courses and programs or conducting other
business.
I extend expressions of acknowledgement to all families
and communities across the Torres Strait Islands and
especially to all families supporting students from the
various Islands who chose to travel the long distances to
study at Batchelor Institute.
On behalf of Batchelor Institute I also extend greetings
and acknowledgement to all families of students from
the variety of sovereign nations across Australia, and to
students who have chosen Batchelor Institute as their
place of study.
As Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander People celebrate
our ongoing survival as sovereign nations of Peoples we
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must
always
pause to remember
the struggles of our Ancestors - our Warriors (men, women
and children) – our Elders - all those who have gone before
us - all who have made this present possible for all of us.
It is with great pride I acknowledge the role I have been
given at Batchelor Institute as Elder Academic and I
sincerely appreciate CEO Professor Larkin’s commitment
and support of this role. And his recognition of the
importance, while at the same time, understanding
the complex multiplicity of such a role when balancing
respectful protocols of engagement with the changing
face and direction of 21st century academic tertiary
environments.
While Batchelor Institute (for some) may only represent a
small speck on the bigger picture map, its inclusion as an
important part of the overall tertiary journey for Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander students is paramount.
Batchelor Institute though, must stay abreast of all
relevant changes if it is to remain a first choice provider.
Currently Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary
Education (BIITE) clearly states in its mandate that this
Institute exists for the primary purpose of advancing the
educational landscape and experience for Aboriginal and

Torres Strait Islander students via the provision of high
quality training, education and research, whilst in a
culturally safe environment.
Let us go beyond the rhetoric and continue to
build on that commitment and focus on how as
the Batchelor Team we honour all of the promise
of the past and we carry it through the present,
and well into the future.
While Batchelor Institute still faces many
challenges there are those who are working
extremely hard toward providing alternatives that
might guarantee a brighter and positive future.
I applaud the bold steps taken by CEO, Professor
Steve Larkin in a number of areas and I congratulate him
on the new directions he continues to instigate through
strategic recruitment in specific areas. The recruitment of
new fresh personnel, with fresh, exciting, innovative and
different practices and approaches is already resulting in
improved performances in some areas.

maintenance of the integrity of Aboriginal knowledges to be held and maintained by Aboriginal people.
I remain committed to working for the better, stronger
future for Batchelor Institute under the leadership of
Council Chair Pat Anderson AO and CEO Professor Steve
Larkin.

Dr Sue Stanton
Elder Academic: Batchelor Institute
Fulbright Scholar

The 2019 agenda will continue to be an exciting learning
experience for me as I continue to work as a member of
the Executive Leadership Team (ELT) and in collaboration
with Graduate School Director, Dr Kathryn Gilbey. It is also
my intention to pursue a number of research opportunities
with other universities and organisations and as part of
broadening the BIITE profile.
As an Aboriginal scholar, I celebrate that BIITE has as its
CEO a high ranking senior Aboriginal academic recognised
at international and national levels who is opening a
number of doors and encouraging pathways and networks
that will broaden the current understanding, ‘Indigenous
Research at BIITE’. The Institute continues to prioritize
the establishment of a dedicated Aboriginal/Indigenous
academic and research space – designed, developed and
driven by Aboriginal/Indigenous scholars for Aboriginal/
Indigenous students and researchers. Professor Larkin
clearly visions such a prospect as part of the future. I
am excited to share in his vision and look forward to
continued dialogue to promote a mandate that speaks of
the continuing further advancement of Aboriginal cultural
values, and the protection of the sanctity of Intellectual
Property (IP) of Aboriginal knowledges through
strengthening of Batchelor Institute’s commitment to the
Image: Dr Sue Stanton
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STRATEGIC DIRECTION
An educational institution for the tertiary
education of Indigenous people of Australia
and the provision of other educational
and training programs and courses, and
facilities and resources for research and
study.
MISSION AND STRATEGIC DIRECTION
Batchelor Institute is constituted under the Batchelor
Institute of Indigenous Tertiary Education Act 1999.
In keeping with our mission and direction, the Batchelor
Institute of Indigenous Tertiary Education sits uniquely
in the Australian educational landscape being the only
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander dual sector tertiary
education provider.
Under its ‘Both-ways’ philosophy, Batchelor Institute
provides a significant Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
lens to a mainstream education system. In so doing
Batchelor Institute offers culturally appropriate training
that prioritises Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
knowledges and delivers life skills, current industry skills
and qualifications.
Batchelor’s ‘Both-ways’ philosophy is demonstrably
a First Nations approach to teaching, learning and
interacting, where Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
ways of doing inform a Western educational system. The
result is a culturally secure approach for both Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islanders and other peoples such that
learning and achievement are synonymous.
At the heart of the ‘Both-ways’ principles lies the
recognition of the legitimate right of Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islanders to determine the nature of their
engagement with various knowledge systems, in
particular their own intellectual and social traditions and
practices in the past, the present, and into the future.
2018 IMPLEMENTATION OF INSTITUTE’S MISSION
AND STRATEGIC DIRECTION
In November 2017, a Financial and Governance
Review was completed. The report made a number of
recommendations which were further developed and
implemented during 2018. This included a major change
to the organisational structure of Batchelor Institute
to better achieve our purpose and objectives as being
10
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a best-practice First Nations’ education, training and
research provider.
The new organisation structure more effectively aligned
the Higher Education and Research, and Vocational
Education and Training functions into two separate
divisions. The new structure also created an Operations
division under a Chief Operating Officer which includes
all shared services functions. A new division, Student
Experience, was created to prioritise quality services and
support to students including Student Administration,
Student Travel, Student Support, Residential and Library.
REVIEWS
Batchelor Institute routinely provides input to a number of
external reviews. This has enabled our unique perspective
to be reflected in a range of policies, programmes and
legislation. During 2018 these reviews have included:
[[ An accreditation panel conducted a review of the two
research degrees offered by Batchelor Institute (PhD
Indigenous Perspectives and Master of Indigenous
Perspectives by Research). The programs of study
leading to the award of the two research degrees
achieved continuing accreditation until 30 December
2025 and a new Masters and PhD program was
accredited for commencement in 2020.
[[ A review of the Away From Base (AFB) funding
assistance provided by the Department of Prime
Minister and Cabinet.
[[ Response to a Discussion Paper for a review of the
Teacher Registration (Northern Territory) Act and
regulations and proposed legislative amendments.
[[ Response to the development of a National Regional,
Rural and Remote Education Strategy conducted by
the federal Department of Education and Training.
REGULATORY AND COMPLIANCE REVIEWS
As a Registered Training Organisation and Higher
Education Provider Batchelor Institute undergoes routine
audits and reviews by the relevant regulatory authorities.
During 2018 the following reviews or audits occurred:
[[ The Australian Skills Quality Authority (ASQA)
conducted a compliance audit of 21 of the qualifications
that Batchelor Institute has on its scope of registration.
Observations of continuous improvement needs
in assessments were identified by the audit team
and were rectified to the satisfaction of the auditors.
The audit was a welcome process that provided us
the opportunity to further improve our training and
assessment practices.

[[

[[

A TEQSA review was conducted of the two higher
degrees by research offered by Batchelor Institute (PhD
Indigenous Perspectives and Master of Indigenous
Perspectives by Research). The programs of study
leading to the award of the two research degrees
achieved continuing registration until 30 December
2025.
The Australian Health Practitioner Registration Agency
(AHPRA) monitors the education programs that
have been accredited for registration of the various
health practitioners. Batchelor Institute’s Certificate
IV in Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander Primary
Health Care Practice has been accredited to qualify
graduates to be registered as Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander Health Practitioners. Batchelor Institute
through its annual declaration and regulatory review
has continued the accreditation of its Certificate IV.

PARTNERSHIPS AND STAKEHOLDERS
Consistent with the mission and objectives of Batchelor
Institute we develop and maintain significant relationships
with a range of diverse stakeholders. During 2018 these
have included:
[[ The partnership between Batchelor Institute and
Northern Territory Correctional Services (NTCS) which
delivers significant training, education and skill
development at both the Darwin (Holtze) and Alice
Springs correctional centres.
[[ The partnership with the Australian Army through the
Army Indigenous Development Program (AIDP) which
focuses on the training of young Indigenous men and
women for service in the Australian Army, including the
North- West Mobile Force (NORFORCE) Regiment.
[[ Batchelor Institute in partnership with the Department
of Education continues to train assistant teachers
in remote schools; while the relationship with the
Department of Health facilitated the placement of
students undertaking health courses; and especially
those training to become registered Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander Health Practitioners.
[[ The Centre for Australian Languages and Linguistics
(CALL) works closely with a range of communities and
their organisations across the Northern Territory and
northern Western Australia. The language and linguistic
work of Batchelor Institute is further enhanced through
the Batchelor Institute Press providing documentation
and dissemination of First Nations’ languages and
knowledges.

VOCATIONAL EDUCATION AND TRAINING (VET)
During 2018 Batchelor Institute continued to deliver a
wide range of VET qualifications, courses and units.
Our programs were tailored to meet needs to build both
individual skills and community capacity.
The scope of our VET programs in 2018 included
Resources and Infrastructure, Construction, Education
including Early Childhood, Visual Arts, Health,
Community Services, Business, Foundation Skills, Screen
and Media, Conservation and Land Management and
Family Wellbeing.
Batchelor Institute’s mixed-mode of course delivery,
which is also utilised in our Higher Education teaching,
is a critical pedagogy in catering for remote and very
remote areas allowing students to learn in a culturally
safe environment.
HIGHER EDUCATION AND RESEARCH
Our relationship with the Charles Darwin University (CDU)
continued to be vitally important with Batchelor Institute
contributing to, and/or delivering units into a number of
courses at the Enabling, Diploma, Associate Degree and
Bachelor levels. Batchelor Institute provides valuable
assistance to Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander
students studying through CDU through areas such as
embedding Indigenous knowledges and perspectives
within units, providing improved cultural safety on
campus, improving academic literacy, and providing
additional relevant academic and other support.
The Graduate School continued their support to the
candidates for Higher Degrees by Research. Research
studies during 2018 were in the core areas of education,
languages, creative industries and livelihoods.
A range research projects and activities were conducted
during 2018. These, included:
[[ Evaluation of Suicide Story which is a suicide prevention
program auspiced by the Mental Health Association of
Central Australia.
[[ Evaluation of DigiMOB a partnership between Telstra
and First Nations Media Australia.
[[ An evaluation into English as an Additional Language
of Dialect (EALD) practices.
[[ A rural and remote wellbeing pilot study of students
engaged in Certificate II, III and IV units.
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OFFICE OF ELDER ACADEMIC
AND CULTURAL LEADERSHIP
(OEACL)
The Office of Elder’s original and primary
purpose and vision has been to extend the
Batchelor Institute Council’s Vision which
proclaims Batchelor Institute as Australia’s
Leader in First Nations’ Tertiary Education
and Research.

[[

[[

[[

The 2016-2018 Vision and Action has centred around
putting into place appropriate guidelines and measures
that support Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people
and communities to achieve their highest level potential
through learning, training, research and employment.

[[

[[

Other aims included the overview and contribution to
the continuous improvement and academic direction
of Batchelor Institute, primarily through the embedding
of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander knowledges
and perspectives within the curriculum and throughout
Batchelor Institute’s broader practices.
OEACL attempted to promote robust dialogue around
culturally-safe and culturally appropriate practices so
as to facilitate cultural meaningful experiences and
engagement for students, staff and stakeholders of
Batchelor Institute. This was done through the setting up
of the Cultural Respect Framework which delivered series
of Intercultural sessions on a quarterly roster to all staff.
Also monthly Aboriginal knowledges forums covering
a wide range of topics were made available to all staff
and students. Both cohorts were also invited to make
presentations on their own topics.
OEACL had an extensive list of fundamentals in
recognition of the location of Batchelor Institute in this
unique Aboriginal space. Some non-negotiables are listed
below:
[[ Provision of advice and expertise from Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander perspectives and Indigenous
knowledges.
[[ Maintenance of the veracity and value of strong
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander standpoints and
ethics.

12
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[[

Demanded protection of all forms and levels of diverse
Aboriginal knowledges, philosophies, teachings and
learnings.
Combine with all local language groups within the
Batchelor Institute network and external to it, such
as Torres Strait Islands, to extend the long-time
continuation of complementary relationships between
all.
Challenge Eurocentric/western and/or alternative
cultures’ views, attitudes and processes.
Provide a holistic approach via intercultural forums
to assist all staff as well as external others to achieve
shared cultural respect and balanced awareness for
each other through respectful exchange of knowledges
and ideas.
Provide logic and challenge, through a team of
qualified and experienced, competent and conversant
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander scholar-educators,
Elders and community representatives.
Provide opportunities for all staff, via forums and
training, to general exposure to protocols and
procedures that might include improvement of
excellence, governance, delivery and corporate
management between all Divisions.

2019 AND BEYOND
Following the establishment years of the Office, it is now
time to plan another cycle of development. It is pleasing to
know that Batchelor Institute recognises the value of the
entity overall and that some functions are to be continued
as part of ongoing future direction of Batchelor Institute
albeit via revamped or new programs and renewed focus
and ideas.

Image: (top) Batchelor Institute NAIDOC march 2018, McGinness Family
(left) Batchelor Institute health students at the Darwin NAIDOC march
(right) Batchelor Institute NAIDOC week activities
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RECOGNITION
Preparation for Tertiary Success Program
(PTS) have been awarded a Citation for
Outstanding Contribution to Student
Learning
Dr Lisa Hall, Catherine Maughan, Angela Harrison,
Joanne Forrest and Delean Holtze from the Preparation
for Tertiary Success Program (PTS) have been awarded a
Citation for Outstanding Contribution to Student Learning
as part of the Australian Awards for University Teaching
2018.
This is the first time in Batchelor Institute’s history that a
teaching team has recieved such recognition. In receiving
a Citation, the PTS team has been recognised as being
among Australia’s most exceptional university teachers.
The PTS team has demonstrated an outstanding
contribution to student learning through their dedication
to quality teaching.
The overall assessment from the selection panel reflects
the high quality and importance of the PTS program for
our students:
“The innovation is of significance not only to the Institution
but also to the Government which is trying to get more
Indigenous and Torres Strait Islanders attending tertiary
education. This program is a
model that demonstrates
that
enrolments,
completions and
progression can
be enhanced for
this student

cohort to assist them in their successful transition to
tertiary education.”
The PTS course has been running in its current form since
2011/2012. There are very few similar bridging programs
in the tertiary education sector that have a longstanding
successful history in providing methodological approaches
to teaching that bridge cultures to enable Indigenous
academic success. The PTS program at Batchelor Institute
is a unique program in that it has been in place for over
a decade and has undergone a number of revisions in
an attempt to create bridges between Indigenous and
Eurocentric ways of knowing. The unique pedagogy and
curriculum used in the PTS course offers Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander students the opportunity to bring
their own strength and knowledge into the classroom.
Students learn all the necessary skills and strategies
required for them to be successfully undertake further
tertiary education pathways. They gain insight and
academic intelligence to navigate the western learning
environment of higher education while strengthening their
own Indigenous identity.
While helping many students to make a successful
transition into higher education courses the PTS team
has also made a significant contribution to the wider
field of enabling education. The team has developed an
impressive research record with publications in numerous
national and international peer reviewed journals. The
team has represented Batchelor Institute in several
national and international conferences, sharing and
promoting the pedagogical work being done in the PTS
program. The reputation of Batchelor’s PTS program
has moved beyond the Australian boundaries with
the formation of an international partnership with the
University of Lethbridge in Canada.
This is a proud moment in the
history of Batchelor Institute in
general and specifically for the
PTS team. We would like to
congratulate and thank the
PTS team for their ongoing
dedication and commitment
to our Indigenous students.

Image: (left) Dr Jurg Bronnimann,
Catherine Maughan and Angela
Harrison with PTS award
(right) PTS staff
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WORKFORCE REPORT
WORK HEALTH SAFETY (WHS)
Batchelor Institute is committed to providing a socially
responsible, physically safe and healthy working and
learning environment for all staff, students, contractors
and visitors.
Throughout 2018, Batchelor Institute continued to ensure
that WHS was an integral part of all management and
operational systems and embedded into Batchelor
Institute’s culture.
Through the oversight of the WHS committee and the
WHS officer position, Batchelor Institute worked hard to
ensure it met its statutory obligations and undertook
various initiatives to maintain its duty of care whilst
managing budget constraints.
The 2018 WHS initiatives included:
Revitalisation of the Emergency Incident Response
Group (EIRG) and WHS Committee
[[ The upgrade of fire systems across Batchelor Institute
[[ Roofing project
[[ Ceiling repair
[[ Regular Inspections ensuring that WHS issues are
addressed quickly
[[ Re appointments of Health and Safety Representatives
[[ Ergonomic assessments of staff work spaces
[[ Purchase of second defibrillator for Batchelor Campus
[[

of restructuring which
has placed Batchelor
Institute in the best
possible position to
move into the future.

2018
STAFF
NUMBERS
Average
total number
of staff

209

33.9%

To support Batchelor
Institute in achieving
its Strategic Objectives
each Division commenced
developing Business Operational
Plans for 2019 onwards. Other changes included how we
looked at the way we do business across the board and
how make strategic and financial decisions in the best
interests of Batchelor Institute and all stakeholders.

Average
number
Aboriginal
and/or
Torres Strait
Islander Staff
71

HR has continued to support all levels of management
and staff, this included reviewing policies, procedures and
transferring the Workplace Health and Safety Advisor
function into HR as it was identified that this role would
be more effective strategically and operationally. Another
change which affected the HR division in 2018 was the
secondment of the Senior Learning and Development
Officer to Quality Assurance to assist VET with Audit
activities.
In November 2018 Batchelor Institute commenced the
bargaining process to renew the Enterprise Agreement
2015-2017 and is ongoing to 2019.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT (PD)

2018
STAFF
MOVEMENT

Batchelor Institutes staff participated in numerous PD
activities during 2018, ranging from upskilling in computer
skills to accredited courses in Family Wellbeing. Of these,
First Aid, Mental Health First Aid and 4WD Training were
the main activities completed.

Temp Contract
Completed
73
Resigned
29

HUMAN RESOURCES (HR)
2018 was a year of stabilisation and refocus for Batchelor
Institute, its staff and stakeholders. The challenges of
2017 commanded that Batchelor Institute look both
inwards and outwards to address the fundamental issues
of funding, competition, operations and performance.
The appointment of a new CEO and several other key
leadership roles has contributed to a seamless process

Commenced
94

Redundant
(Voluntary)
3
Redundant
(Involuntary)
1

Casual Cessation
10
Retired
1
Ceased Workers Compensation
2
Ceased-Probation
2
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VOCATIONAL EDUCATION
AND TRAINING
Batchelor Institute offers a range of
accredited Vocational Education and
Training (VET) courses with strong record of
community focused delivery to Indigenous
students in remote and very remote areas. In
2018, the both-ways education model and
industry collaboration in VET supported
students to attain industry approved
qualifications. Students developed lifelong learning skills, resilience, workplace
capability and confidence. VET pathways
have led and are leading students to
higher qualifications, industry skills,
knowledge and employment. Batchelor
Institute bridges Indigenous and Western
knowledges and practices through
culturally appropriate VET design and
delivery.

RESOURCES AND INFRASTRUCTURE
The Resources and Infrastructure team had another
successful year achieving its target for the year.
In 2018, delivery occurred in the following locations;
Pirlingimpi, Milikapti, Maningrida, Wurrumiyanga,
Numbulwar, Jabiru (ERA), Borroloola, Minyerri, Beswick,
Barunga, Ngukurr, Gunbalunya and Ironbark participants
at Batchelor Campus.
MEM10105 Certificate I in Engineering was delivered
for the first time to remote communities in the Top End.
This was an outcome of the investment in strengthening
relationships with CDP managers, contractors, other RTOs
and Tiwi Islands Training Employment Board, for this
training to occur on the Tiwi Islands. The same training will
be also scheduled for 2019 demonstrating a continuity
of service and an opportunity to further develop needsbased training.
VET Equipment Grant funding was allocated to a skid
steer loader to enable further training. The skid steer loader
and the excavator generated immense interest from the
16
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communities. In 2018, the first group of students from
Borroloola attended Batchelor Campus for two weeks to
complete the machine units (excavator and backhoe/
loader operations).

CONSTRUCTION
The Construction team commenced delivering
courses in Borroloola in 2018 for the first time. Training
delivery was successfully completed to support small
community projects in Minyerri, Belyuen, Maningrida,
and Ramingining. As a result of a majority of our training
being delivered in this region in 2018, strong collaborative
relationships have been established with the Roper Gulf
Shire.
LOOKING FORWARD TO 2019
Construction & Resourse and Infrastructure
Major activities and training planned for 2019 include:
[[ Adding AUR10116 Certificate I in Automotive Vocational
Preparation to scope, as it is a course that has been
identified as a priority across a number of locations,
[[ Commencing training delivery on the western side of
the Katherine region, in collaboration with the Victoria
Daly Regional Council. The identified training locations
are; Kalkarindji, Yarralin, Timber Creek and Lajamanu.
[[ Delivering MEM10105 Certificate I in Engineering on the
Tiwi Islands,
[[ Delivering 10391NAT Certificate III in Remote Area
Building Repairs and Maintenance (RABRAM) in 2019
into a wider range of communities and with an already
busy schedule we are looking forward to the challenge,
[[ Continuing a collaboration with Roper Gulf Shire to
delivering courses in the region.

EDUCATION
Major activities for 2018 include the commencement of
training of Northern Territory Department of Education
staff. The outcome of the collaboration has seen an
increase in pre-school and early primary teaching
assistants supported by their individual schools to enrol
in the ECE course to upgrade skills and qualifications.
Notably, Northern Territory Department of Education
is a major stakeholder in the area of staff development
for Aboriginal Assistant Teachers (AAT) who are required

Image: (above) Health student at immunisation workshop
(left) Resource students on campus workshop

to upgrade their qualifications within the workforce
development directions being implemented by the
Northern Territory Department of Education. The
continued development of improved relationships and
lines of communication with the Northern Territory
Education Department will ensure that students have the
best opportunity to achieve their learning goals.
Staff have engaged in the curriculum development,
effective training delivery and a strengthened relationship
with the Department of Education. Certificate III and
Certificate IV in Education Support - CHC30213 and
CHC40213 assessment tools are now current, compliant
and validated for delivery. Well received by students, the
delivery of training through several workshops included a
mix of theory and practical, ensuring time for the learning
to be both effective and enjoyable, leading to stronger
learning outcomes.
LOOKING FORWARD TO 2019
[[

[[
[[

Increasing demand for the Certificate III and IV in
Education will be a priority and will lead to a broad
range of possibilities.
Ensuring all RPL tools are up-to-date and compliant
for the Certificate III and IV.
Introducing of the new Certificate III and Diploma in
Early Childhood Education courses will be the catalyst
for venturing into new and exciting industry areas.

VISUAL ARTS
Visual arts and visual arts training continue to be essential
to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander expression, culture
and knowledges. This was clearly demonstrated in the
student participation in the September 2018 Parrtjima
festival of Light collaboration; a continuation of work
exhibited at the Desert Park in September last year.
Batchelor Institute visual arts students, past and present,
were selected to participate in the 2018 Parrtjima Festival
of Light, in the creation of the Forest Space and the
Caterpillar dreaming stories installations. The Forest
Space installation at the Alice Springs Desert Park was
comprised of many bold, large-scale sculptures which
visitors could explore and weave their way through. The
sculptures acknowledged the importance of trees, the
shared knowledge of seasonal changes in the environment
and the ecology of plants and trees, which provided more
than shelter for the First Nation’s people of this country.
This knowledge is essential for survival by providing tools
and equipment necessary for everyday life. Some of the
artists involved with the Forest Space installation included
Sarah Morton, Kelly Dixon, Susan Chalmers Mbitjana,
Pamela Lalara, Lillian Inkamala, Graham Wilfred Jnr,
Caroline Bohning and Kathy Inkamakla.
The Todd Mall precinct showcased a new installation
representing the Caterpillar Dreaming stories of Alice
Springs. The Caterpillars are an important new installation
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Image: Jennetta Quinn Bates
Media student

HEALTH
representing
caterpillars, as
requested by the
group of Arrernte people
guiding and advising the Festival
to show respect for one of the main ways Arrernte people
connect to country. The Alice Springs region was created
by giant caterpillars which became the stunning ridges
of the East and West MacDonald Ranges. The Batchelor
Institute students involved with the Caterpillar light
installation, participated in a one-week workshop to paint
the light globes, which were installed within the giant
caterpillars. These visual art students achieved nationally
recognised Statements of Attainment whilst working and
they have the opportunity to continue further studies.

There was a clear increase in demand for health training
delivery across 2018. Increasing completion numbers and
younger cohorts of students applying for the HLT40213
Certificate IV in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
Primary Health Care from WA, QLD and SA indicated
ongoing demand for the training of new entrants into
the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Worker
profession.
The Aboriginal Health Practitioner Excellence Awards NT
Department of Health - 2018 New Practitioner award
went to Casey Manhire who completed her Certificate IV
in 2017 with Batchelor Institute.

Fostering Visual Art entrepreneurship, a cohort of
students were referred by the Museum and Gallery of
the NT (MAGNT) – Megafauna gallery which opened
in Alice Springs in 2018. The group from Engwalla are
now beginning their Certificate 2 in Visual Arts and
are interested in supplying the dinosaur museum with
products to sell.

The Health Team established and continue to maintain
very strong partnerships with:
[[ Department of Health- Top End and Central Australia
[[ AMSANT – Aboriginal Medical Services
[[ Sunrise Health Service
[[ Danila Dilba Health Service
[[ Wurliwurlinjang Health Service
[[ Anyingining Health Service

LOOKING FORWARD TO 2019

LOOKING FORWARD TO 2019

The major focus for 2019 will include:
Responding to increasing demand for the delivery
of Visual Arts training in a broad range of Aboriginal
communities and locations in the NT work will
commence in identifying new locations and delivery
platforms to meet these requests.
[[ Supporting Visual Arts students to create works for
inclusion into the 2019 Parrtjima Festival of Light due
to the success of this year’s participation in the festival.
[[ Revitalising the batik tradition of the North of Central
Australian region through assisting students to bring
their skills and knowledges into the marketplace.

[[

[[
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[[

[[
[[

Delivering HLT40213 Certificate IV in Aboriginal and/or
Torres Strait Islander Primary Health Care Practice at
the DPC campus in Alice Springs in 2019.
Commencing a new course specifically for Registered
Aboriginal Health Practitioners 10681NAT Course in
Immunisation Training,
Enrolling a new cohort of students from Miwatj Health
Service into the Health Worker training programs.
Adding new electives into the Diploma level course
- HLT50213 Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander
Primary Health Care Practice, including:
• HLTAHW029 1 Batchelor Provide information
and strategies in maternal and infant health
01/12/2019
• HLTAHW057 2 Provide antenatal healthcare
01/12/2019
• HLTAHW059 3 Provide postnatal and infant
healthcare 01/12/2019
• HLTAHW058 4 Prepare for and support childbirth

BUSINESS/GOVERNANCE
Michaela Peckham McKenzie was awarded the VET
student of the Year Award-2018. Michaela completed the
BSB20115 Certificate II in Business.

[[

[[

Supporting communities in the Arnhem, Vic-Daly
and Outer Alice Springs regions who have expressed
interest in Foundation Skills training.
Responding to the identified FSK demand in the
Yarralin, Pigeon Hole, Kalkarindji and Timber Creek
regions.

LOOKING FORWARD TO 2019
[[

[[

Evolving partnerships with DESART & Catholic Care
NT for delivery of embedded FSK and Certificate I
Business units.
Review of the Business delivery materials addressing
recent National Training Package changes and ASQA
regulatory compliance considerations.

FOUNDATION SKILLS
Foundation Skills (FSK) provides a holistic approach
to gaining and maintaining workplace skills. FSK
incorporates learner experience, consolidating workplace
knowledge through English literacy and skill application.
FSK supports vocational pathways to employment and
further education.
Significant outcomes for students were achieved in 2018.
FSK10113 Certificate I Access to Vocational Pathways was
delivered in Ramingining with 11 out of 15 completions.
There was a high level of support from stakeholders,
who included; ALPA (Arnhem land Progress Assoc) staff,
CDP coordinator and the Community. The delivery of
the FSK10113 Certificate I Access to Vocational Pathways
at Gapuwiyak achieved 84% student completion.
Gapuwiyak and Ramingining students’ commitment to
study during their training period, resulted in pathways
for them into the remote workforce opportunities in the
health, education and community development sectors.
FSK Lecturers completed the TAE40116 and 10272NAT
Certificate II in Family Wellbeing upgrades for quality
assurance and industry compliance.
LOOKING FORWARD TO 2019
FSK, Business and Governance 2019 priorities include:
Re-establishing closer working relationships with
a number of CDP providers (Galiwinku, Wadeye,
Peppimenarti) with participants coming into the lower
qualifications from these feeder organisations,

[[

SCREEN MEDIA
Media skills continue to be a popular program of study
at Batchelor Institute. These skills can be used in many
different ways, but all provide a tool to amplify people’s
voices and using new and developing delivery platforms,
to share stories, language and culture with the world.
Students worked in our new digital studios and presented
their final radio shows live over the CAAMA network.
Previous students/graduates continue to follow diverse
pathways after completing their training, including
producing short films that are shown on NITV. Their skills
are used to collect oral history, language and culture,
while some continue to create their own projects with
external funding working in both the mainstream and in
the Indigenous media sectors.
Upon returning to their communities, students/graduates
have been successful as Remote Indigenous Broadcasting
Services (RIBS) operators, broadcasting in language and
representing their communities.
Major activities in 2018 included the delivery of CUA31015
Certificate III in Screen and Media. In semester one it was
delivered in Alice Springs for the first time in many years.
Two students from Ngaanyatjarra Media sang and danced
for staff and students, which was very well received.
Students came from two Remote Indigenous Media
Organisations (RIMOs), Central Australian Aboriginal
Media Association (CAAMA) and Ngaanyatjarra Media
(NG Media). All had some form of radio background and
two of the CAAMA technical team were introduced to
live broadcasting. Semester two saw the delivery of the
CUA41215 Certificate IV in Screen Media at the Batchelor
Campus.
Nine students graduated CUA31015 Certificate III in Screen
& Media at the DPC – Alice Springs Graduation Ceremony
and students from the CUA31015 Certificate III Screen and
Media students were well represented on the day. Lorena
Walker from CAAMA was chosen to deliver the Student
response on behalf of all graduates. Roma Butler from
Wingellina, Jennifer Connelly from Jameson and Cynthia
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Images: (above) CLM students at Hamilton
Downs Ranger Camp

Burke from Warakuma were jointly awarded the Central
Australian Aboriginal Media Association (CAAMA) Award.
Industry relationships have been central to industry
engagement and student success. IRCA (Indigenous
Remote Communications Association) previously the
peak body for remote Indigenous media, became First
Nations Media Australia (FNMA), the peak body for
Indigenous media nationally. Batchelor Institute is a
member organisation, as are the Screen Media team.
This relationship has continued and was strengthened
with visits from the FNMA manager and other staff to the
DPC Campus- Alice Springs while Certificate III in Screen
and Media training was being delivered there. Strong
industry relationships continued with CAAMA and NG
Media, leading to those organisations sending staff and
volunteers to DPC for training. Through the partnership
with CAAMA, their studios were utilised for technical
training and all Certificate III Screen and Media students
broadcast their final shows from the main CAAMA studio
over the CAAMA network. Working relationships continued
and expanded with many other industry groups, across
a range of media, including print (Koori Mail), NITV, and
future placements were discussed with Community Media
Training Organisation (CMTO) and PY Media.
LOOKING FORWARD TO 2019
[[
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Progressing discussion with the Victorian College of
the Arts (VCA) on a possible partnership for future
joint programs supporting student pathways to
further education in the arts sector, including film and
television and visual arts for Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander graduates from Batchelor Institute.

CONSERVATION AND LAND
MANAGEMENT
The Conservation Land Management (CLM) qualifications
provide an opportunity for students to gain employment
to look after Country. Students develop the skills and
knowledge required to work as Indigenous rangers and
can progress in their career to lead rangers and ranger
coordinators.
In 2018, 149 students from 36 communities across
the Northern Territory worked towards completion of
qualifications to support them in their roles as Rangers
working in Ranger groups across the Northern Territory.
Staff worked closely with industry groups to ensure
strong enrollments and completions using mixed mode
delivery in both communities (in the workplace) and at
training hubs in Alice Springs, Nhulunbuy and Batchelor.
Additionally, staff undertook professional development in
a range of accredited training, ensuring the maintenance
of industry and teaching currency (as well as attending
industry meetings and forums).
Achievements in strengthening stakeholder relationships
were recognised with the Central Land Council, Dhimurru
Aboriginal Corporation, Laynhapuy Homelands
Aboriginal Corporation and Territory Natural Resource
Management. New relationships were founded with the
Northern Land Council, Arlparra School and the Tjuwanpa
Women Rangers, that will lead to exciting collaborations
in 2019. The CLM team continued to maintain working
relationships with NT Department of Education for the
delivery of VET in Schools (VETiS). The outcome of strong
working relationships with industry groups ensured
consistent enrolment and attendance in CLM courses.

The Environment & Conservation Award at the 2018
TNRM Conference went to the Murnkurrumurnkurru
Gurindji Rangers (all students were at Certificate II and III
levels with Batchelor); and the Ranger of the Year Award
went to Helen Wilson– North Tanami Rangers - Central
Land Council (AHC31416 Certificate III Conservation and
Land Management student with Batchelor Institute).
LOOKING FORWARD TO 2019
[[

[[

[[

Recommencing delivery of AHC40916 Certificate IV in
Conservation and Land Management to bring together
senior rangers from across the Northern Territory. This
will focus on supporting rangers to undertake projects
within their workplaces and develop their skills and
knowledge for coordinator level roles within their
organisations.
Reintroducing training at Batchelor Campus that best
utilises library and science laboratory resources and
enhances the learning experiences of students.
Introducing new training opportunities with the
Northern Land Council Ranger groups including Bulgul,
Malak Malak, Waanyi Garawa, Central Land Council
groups at Mutijulu, Angus Downs and Docker River as
well as Arlparra School, Tjuwanpa Women Rangers
and Njanjma Rangers at Gunbalunya.

VET QUALITY ASSURANCE
The Quality Assurance Team at Batchelor Institute carries
out systematic quality activities and quality internal
audits to ensure practises, qualifications and industry
requirements are met and all elements are compliant with
ASQA standards.
All VET team members are responsible for the quality
assurance of VET Operations.
The inputs to the quality assurance process include the
following:
[[ Quality Management Plan
[[ Quality approach to a continuous improvements
strategy
[[ Quality control measures such as; audits monitoring
performance outcomes, evaluation analysis and risk
management
Three of the main tools for quality assurance are internal
audits, process analysis and continuous improvement
processes such as validation and industry engagement.

Systematic monitoring of internal systems, strategies
and practices allowed us to respond to changes in the
marketplace or stakeholder expectations.
The Quality Assurance Strategy ensures:
[[ That there are strategies in place the will result in
reliable and accurate assessments of quality and
compliance frameworks.
[[ Strengthened confidence in the VET management
processes in meeting both mandatory legislative and
regulatory instruments and best practice.
[[ Validation of the organisation that we aspire to be.
We aspire to be:
“Australia’s Leader in First Nations Vocational Education
and Training and Higher Education Research”
VET Quality Assurance is under the direct authority of the
Deputy CEO Vocational Education and Training (VET) and
has responsibility for:
[[ Compliance with all relevant legislation and regulations.
[[ Responsible for ASQA related requirements such as:
• Scope management
• ASQANet Portal Reporting and notifications of
changes
• ASQA Compliance Audits.
[[ Quality Assuring – areas involved are quality and
compliance planning, evaluation reporting, monitoring
quality improvement (continuous improvement),
Validation, identifying that operational activities meet
the quality expected by stakeholders and industry.
[[ Quality control – a set of activities intended to ensure
that quality requirements are being met.
[[ Quality Improvement – achieving better learners
experience and outcomes achieved through changing
VET provider behaviors and organisation through
using systematic processes.
[[ Monitoring and annually reviewing the whole of the
Batchelor Institute operations through internal audits,
spot audits and reviews.
[[ Prepare, in consultation with the CEO, the ASQA CEO
Annual Compliance Declaration each year and submit
by due date 30th March each year.
[[ Work internally in close partnership with Batchelor
CEO, Deputy CEOs, Executive Leaders and Senior
Lecturers and their teams.
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STUDENT ADMINISTRATION
REFLECTIONS OF 2018
During 2018 Student Administration worked through
several structural plans and new staff into existing
positions through staffing attrition.
Student Administration continued to focus on timely
and accurate data entry and providing stakeholders with
best practice customer service.
There were two main graduation ceremonies and
approximately six community graduation ceremonies
held in 2018 which Student Administration administered
all certifications and organised the gowning of students,
staff and dignitaries.
POLICY & PROCEDURE DEVELOPMENTS
The following policies and/or procedures were updated
in 2018 with assistance from Student Administration:
[[ Student Encumbrance Policy
[[ VET Enrolments Policy
[[ VET Student Fees Policy
[[ Invoicing and Collection of Student Fees Procedure
REGULATOR RISK
Student Administration participated and provided
feedback on several internal ASQA Audits conducted by
the VET Quality Assurance team.
Student Administration assisted in:
[[ Updating of course brochures to PDF versions
[[ Applying encumbrances to students who were
identified in the audit as needing extra training.
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Each year Student Administration is also required to
provide Student Attendance Samples for students
identified in the financial audits and provide this
information to finance and the auditing bodies.
COMMITTEES
Student Administration were a part of a six-month
initiative, the Student Experience Project. They worked
with internal representatives from within VET, Higher
Education and Higher Degree by Research.
COLLABORATIVE PARTNERSHIPS
Student Administration continued to work closely with
the Unique Student Identifier (USI) Office, creating a
further 730 individual Unique Student Identifiers on
students’ behalf in 2018. In addition, collaboration with
the Australian Health Practitioners Registration Authority
(AHPRA), enabled 20 students, who completed their
training, to register as members.
LOOKING FORWARD TO 2019
Student Administration
In 2019, Student Administration will be working towards
having a full staffing complement that will include a
Coordinator of Timetabling and Abstudy. To further
build a spirit of collaboration, training will be a focus in
conjunction with the Records department. Professional
Development (PD) and team building activities are
essential and will ensure the ongoing outstanding team
work which was displayed in 2018.

VET QUALIFICATIONS AND
ACCREDITED COURSES
As at 31st December 2018 the Institute had the following qualifications and accredited courses on its approved ASQA
Scope of Registration. Not all qualifications or accredited courses may be offered every year.
Further information on courses can be directed to enquiries@batchelor.edu.au
Training Product Name

Type of Product

Agriculture, Horticulture and Conservation and Land Management Training Package

Training Package

AHC10116 Certificate I in Conservation and Land Management

Qualification

AHC10216 Certificate I in AgriFood Operations

Qualification

AHC20316 Certificate II in Production Horticulture

Qualification

AHC20416 Certificate II in Horticulture

Qualification

AHC21016 Certificate II in Conservation and Land Management

Qualification

AHC21216 Certificate II in Rural Operations

Qualification

AHC30616 Certificate III in Production Horticulture

Qualification

AHC31416 Certificate III in Conservation and Land Management

Qualification

AHC31516 Certificate III in Indigenous Land Management

Qualification

AHC40916 Certificate IV in Conservation and Land Management

Qualification

Business Services Training Package

Training Package

BSB10115 Certificate I in Business

Qualification

BSB20115 Certificate II in Business

Qualification

BSB30115 Certificate III in Business

Qualification

BSB41915 Certificate IV in Business (Governance)

Qualification

Community Services Training Package

Training Package

CHC22015 Certificate II in Community Services

Qualification

CHC30113 Certificate III in Early Childhood Education and Care

Qualification

CHC30213 Certificate III in Education Support

Qualification

CHC32015 Certificate III in Community Services

Qualification

CHC40213 Certificate IV in Education Support

Qualification

CHC50113 Diploma of Early Childhood Education and Care

Qualification

Construction, Plumbing and Services Training Package

Training Package

CPC10111 Certificate I in Construction

Qualification

CPC20112 Certificate II in Construction

Qualification

CPCCWHS1001- Prepare to work safely in the construction industry

stand alone unit

Creative Arts and Culture Training

Training Package

CUA10315 Certificate I in Visual Arts

Qualification

CUA20215 Certificate II in Creative Industries

Qualification

CUA20715 Certificate II in Visual Arts

Qualification

CUA31015 Certificate III in Screen and Media

Qualification

CUA31115 Certificate III in Visual Arts

Qualification

CUA41215 Certificate IV in Screen and Media

Qualification
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Training Product Name

Type of Product

CUA41315 Certificate IV in Visual Arts

Qualification

CUA51015 Diploma of Screen and Media

Qualification

Food, Beverage and Pharmaceutical

Training Package

FBP10117 Certificate I in Food Processing

Qualification

Foundation Skills Training Package

Training Package

FSK10113 Certificate I in Access to Vocational Pathways

Qualification

FSK10213 Certificate I in Skills for Vocational Pathways

Qualification

FSK20113 Certificate II in Skills for Work and Vocational Pathways

Qualification

Health Training Package

Training Package

HLT20113 Certificate II in Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander Primary Health Care

Qualification

HLT23215 Certificate II in Health Support Services

Qualification

HLT40113 Certificate IV in Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander Primary Health Care

Qualification

HLT40213 Certificate IV in Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander Primary Health Care Practice Qualification
HLT50213 Diploma of Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander Primary Health Care Practice

Qualification

HLTAID001- Provide cardiopulmonary resuscitation

stand alone unit

Manufacturing and Engineering Training Package

Training Package

MEM10105 Certificate I in Engineering

Qualification

Furniture Training Package

Training Package

MSF20313 Certificate II in Furniture Making

Qualification

Resources and Infrastructure Industry Training Package

Training Package

RII20115 Certificate II in Resources and Infrastructure Work Preparation

Qualification

RII20715 Certificate II in Civil Construction

Qualification

RII30815 Certificate III in Civil Construction Plant Operations

Qualification

Tourism, Travel and Hospitality Training Package

Training Package

SIT10116 Certificate I in Tourism (Australian Indigenous Culture)

Qualification

SIT20416 Certificate II in Kitchen Operations

Qualification

SITHFAB005 - Prepare and serve espresso coffee

stand alone unit

ACCREDITED COURSES CONDUCTED BY BATCHELOR INSTITUTE
(DECEMBER 2018)
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Course Code

Qualification

10183NAT

Diploma of Education

10244NAT

Certificate I in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Language and Knowledge Work

10272NAT

Certificate II in Family Wellbeing

10391NAT

Certificate III in Remote Area Building Repairs and Maintenance

10503NAT

Advanced Diploma of Education (Paraprofessional Education Worker)

MAJOR PROJECTS
In 2018, the VET Division acquired the
management and oversight of a number
of Major Projects involving large externally
funded projects.
In 2018 the division delivered:
Northern Territory Correctional Services (NTCS) Service
Level Agreement (SLA)
[[ Warlpiri Education and Training Trust (WETT) Program
[[ Army Indigenous Development Program (AIDP) /
Regional Force Surveillance List, Education and
Development Course (REDC)
[[ Vocational Education and Training in Schools
[[

CORRECTIONS SLA
The partnership between Batchelor Institute and
Northern Territory Correctional Services (NTCS) continued
throughout 2018. Through the operations at the Holtze
Campus at Darwin Correctional Precinct (DCP) and the
Batchelor Institute annex at Alice Springs Correctional
Centre (ASCC) both parties maintained their commitment
to:
[[ Improve the Vocational Education and Training (VET)
outcomes for prisoners and that training is aligned to
employment opportunities.
[[ Enable prisoners upon release to contribute to their
communities and assist in reducing the rates of reoffending and recidivism.
Prisoners are encouraged to develop skills and knowledge
that will contribute to them being self-confident, capable
and contributing members of their communities’ ongoing
development and self-determination aspirations.
Industry relevance, demand and currency is reflected in the
broad range of training, education and skill development
initiatives delivered in 2018.
Late in 2018, Northern Territory Correctional Services
(NTCS) appointed a new Commissioner. Commissioner
Scott McNairn MBA. NTCS has expressed a commitment
to improving the educational based outcomes in the
correctional centers for prisoners.

CORRECTIONS HOLTZE
Record level completions
at Holtze Campus, DCC
in 2018 are a record
level high since the
commencement of the
Service Level Agreement
(SLA), in July 2015.
There were two Graduations
ceremonies
at
Holtze
Campus, DCC in 2018 – the
first was on 17th May 2018 and
the second on the 11th October 2018.
The second ceremony had special guests
the Honorable Vicki O’Halloran AM - Administrator of
the Northern Territory, Scott McNairn - Commissioner
NTCS, Wendy Ludwig - Deputy CEO- VET, MS Leah
Atkinson - Chief Operating Officer and Mr. Charlie King,
Catholic Care- No More Campaigner to acknowledge the
Graduates.
Courses delivered in 2018:
FSK10213 Certificate I in Access to Vocational Pathways
[[ FSK1013 Certificate I in Skills for Vocational Pathways
[[ AHC10216 Certificate I in Agri-food Operations
[[ BSB10115 Certificate I in Business
[[ CPC10111 Certificate I in Construction
[[ MEM10105 Certificate I in Engineering
[[ CUA10315 Certificate I in Visual Arts
[[ HLT23215 Certificate II in Health Support Services
[[ FSK20113 Certificate II in Skills for Work and Vocational
Pathways
[[ CUA20715 Certificate II in Visual Arts
[[ SITSS00050 Food Handling
[[ SITHFAB005 Prepare and Service Espresso Coffee
[[ CPCCWHS1001 Prepare to Work Safely in the
Construction Industry
[[

CORRECTIONS – ALICE SPRINGS
Highlights in 2018 included prisoners enrolled in the
Certificate I and II Visual Arts showcasing their work at
an exhibition at Araluen Arts Centre. Titled “Big mob of

Images: Dr Wendy Ludwig, Deputy Chief Executive Officer,
Batchelor Institute addressing Graduates at Hotlze
Campus Graduation Ceremony.
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dogs”, the students used easily sourced, inexpensive,
recycled and repurposed materials to create a diverse
array of Central Australia’s most culturally iconic animal
‘the dog’.
Student’s work was also sent to Darwin for the annual
“Behind the Wire” exhibition at Fannie Bay Gaol Museum.
A female Certificate II Visual Arts student has continued
Higher Education studies upon release.
Courses delivered in 2018:
FSK10213 Certificate I in Access to Vocational Pathways
[[ CPC10111 Certificate I in Construction
[[ MEM10105 Certificate I in Engineering
[[ CUA10315 Certificate I in Visual Arts
[[ MSF20313 Certificate II in Furniture Making
[[ CUA20715 Certificate II in Visual Arts
[[ SITSS00050 Food Handling
[[ CPCCWHS1001 Prepare to Work Safely in the
Construction Industry

[[

by introducing new qualifications in the laundry and
wood working industries.
The Corrections project at the Batchelor Institute annex
at Alice Springs Correctional Centre (ASCC) is looking
forward to consolidating delivery in existing industry
areas and exploring the possible expansion of its
training into additional industries.

WARLPIRI EDUCATION AND
TRAINING TRUST (WETT) PROGRAM

[[

LOOKING FORWARD TO 2019
Corrections
[[ The Corrections project at Holtze Campus, DCC is
looking forward to an expansion of its training delivery

In 2018, Batchelor Institute and Warlpiri Education and
Training Trust continued the delivery of services as agreed
upon in two Service Level Agreements (SLA) administered
by the Central Land Council – Community Development
Unit (CLC-CDU) covering three Learning Centres and an
Early Years Learning Centre.
2018 has presented a range of challenges and highlights
that have ensured that all parties to the SLA’s have been
engaged in on-going negotiations, accommodations and
flexible responses that have resulted in the continued
operations and delivery of services out of these facilities.
Batchelor Institute maintained a commitment to the
provision of access to Community Learning Centres in
Lajamanu, Nyirripi and Willowra, which has significantly
increased learning and access opportunities, that enable
community members to pursue their aspirations.
Batchelor Institute continued to provide the service
delivery obligations as set out in the Willowra Early
Years Learning Centre Program agreement that saw an
increase number of young children, along with their carers,
participate and contribute to the positive early learning
experiences of young children in the Willowra community.

Images: (top) One mob different country dancers from DCC at Holtze
Campus Graduation Ceremony, Mr Cameron Tyrrell, Deputy Director
Workforce Development and Prisoner Education, Mr Mark Kruit, A/
General Manager and Superintendent DCC, and Mr Charlie King,
Catholic Care, ‘No More’ Campaigner.
(left) Big mobs of dogs, student artwork.
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ARMY INDIGENOUS DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAM (AIDP)
The ongoing effective delivery of this contract
demonstrated the close collaboration between teams
across Batchelor Institute.
Coordinated training,
activities and support included the provision of teaching,
mentoring and cultural support services, accommodation,
catering, cleaning, catering, student transportation and
maintenance.
Literacy, Numeracy, White Cards and First Aid training
were delivered alongside a range of Department of
Defence identified training and guidance initiatives were
provided under:
[[
[[

(AIDP) – two intakes in 2018
Regional Education Development Course (REDC)
Norforce – one intake in 2018.

This is due to the coordinated collaborative relationships
of Batchelor Institute staff, ensuring a streamlined
operational environment. The AIDP contract with the
Department of Defence expired in December 2018.
Batchelor Institute has successfully won an open tender
process to deliver the Army Indigenous Development
Program and Regional Force Surveillance Unit Education
& Development Course for the period 2019 -2021.

VETIS
In 2018 Batchelor Institute entered into a number of VET
in Schools (VETiS) agreements with the NT Department of
Education for the delivery of Certificate I-II in Conservation
Land Management courses at Gapuwiyak, Nhulunbuy
and Yirrkala schools.

The Department of Defence has ongoing confidence in
the quality of service delivery and student outcomes.
Image: 2018 AIDP Graduates
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2018
VET AT A GLANCE
Did not go to school
Not specified

2018
HIGHEST LEVEL
OF SCHOOL
COMPLETED

1.3%
6.5%

Year 8

9.7%

Year 9

19.2%

Year 10

25.3%

Year 11

18.8%

Year 12

19.2%

DELIVERY
LOCATIONS
IN 2018

52

2018
REMOTE
INDICATOR
Offshore
1%

Inner Regional
1%

Very Remote
24%
Remote
49%

Major Cities
1%
Outer Regional
24%

2018
AQF
LEVELS
2018
MAIN LANGUAGE
SPOKEN AT HOME

695

Diploma 2%
Certificate IV 7%
Certificate III 9%
Certificate II 30%
Certificate I 52%

English
34%

Australian
Indigenous
Languages
61%

Other
5%
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44

2018
PRIOR TERTIARY
STUDY
Has not yet
completed a
tertiary course
51%

Has previously
completed a
tertiary course
49%

NUMBER OF
QUALIFICATIONS
DELIVERED
IN 2018

Tertiary study categories include:
• Bachelor Degree or Higher Education
• Advanced Diploma or Associate Degree
• Diploma (or Associate Diploma)
• Certificate IV (or Advanced Certificate/Technician)
• Certificate III (or Trade Certificate)
• Certificate II
• Certificate I
• Other education (including certificates or overseas
qualifications not listed above)

To get into another
course of study
1%
To change career
2%
To get a better job
or promotion
4%

2018
STUDENT
GENDER
BREAKDOWNS

2018
WHY STUDENTS
CHOOSE TO
STUDY AT BIITE

Women

Men

42%

58%

Other
5%

Personal development
13%
Requirement of my job
12%

To get a job
43%

I wanted extra skills
20%

2010-2018
* < 1% unspecified gender
COURSE
COMPLETIONS
1003

425

433

440

2010

2011

2012

696

659

2013

2014

1037

734

2015

2010-2018
COURSE
COMPLETIONS
695

2016

2017

2018
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HIGHER EDUCATION
The programs and staff of the Higher
Education and Research Division continued
to deliver a quality student-focused
education and research training experience
for Batchelor Institute’s higher education
students. A number of highlights and
achievements of 2018 are outlined in the
following sections.

SCHOOL OF HIGHER EDUCATION
In 2018, the School contributed to and delivered units
within the following courses:
[[ Preparation for Tertiary Success
[[ Bachelor of Education Early Childhood Teaching
[[ Bachelor of Education Primary
[[ Bachelor of Applied Social Science
[[ Bachelor of Indigenous Languages and Linguistics
[[ Bachelor of Nursing
[[ Associate Degree of Applied Social Science
[[ Associate Degree of Indigenous Languages and
Linguistics
[[ Diploma of Creative Indigenous Writing
[[ Diploma of Indigenous Language Work
[[ Diploma of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
Knowledges
[[ Diploma of Creative and Indigenous Writing

The School and academic staff worked hard to attract new
students into their programs, at the same time supporting
and encouraging returning students to continue their
studies. Thanks to this effort, the School exceeded its
projected EFTSL in 2018 for the third year in a row. In
particular it is important to note that some of the Higher
Education lecturers offered to teach in the CDU Summer
Semester in order to increase the income of the School.
PREPARATION FOR TERTIARY SUCCESS
The Preparation for Tertiary Success (PTS) courses offer
the first step in an education pathway to further Higher
Education options for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
students. The course is designed to help students to take
on and succeed in their studies in a culturally safe and
caring learning environment.
The program continued the positive trend of increasing
enrolments. The high enrolment figures are a testimony
to the quality and appropriateness of the PTS program
for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students and
the high-quality teaching of the staff. Completion and
retention rates in the program continue to increase.
In recognition for their outstanding work the PTS team
won an Australian Citation Award for outstanding
contribution to student learning. This is the first time in
Batchelor Institute’s history that such an award has been
won.
SANTPEN

The School of Higher Education continued to work
very closely with a number of schools at CDU. The
Institutes academic staff contributed significantly to
the redevelopment and reviews across all of the degree
programs, but mainly in languages and linguistics and
social science.
The School of Higher Education continues to promote a
teaching and learning environment of the highest quality
within the framework of Scholarship of Teaching and
Learning (SoTL). In that respect, the School continues to
support academic staff to upgrade their qualifications.
In 2018, two more staff members completed their PhD
studies and are awaiting the examiners reports. (Claire
Bartlett, Robyn Ober). Several academic staff are currently
undertaking further studies to upgrade their qualifications
and their professional skills, including two Masters.
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The School of Higher Education, on behalf of Batchelor
Institute, is the lead Institute of the South Australia
Northern Territory Promoting Excellence Network
(SANTPEN), a multi-institutional project partnered
with Flinders University, University of South Australia,
University of Adelaide, Tabor Adelaide and Charles
Darwin University.
In 2018, SANTPEN, under the leadership of the Head of
School of Higher Education, ran several workshops both
in the Top End and Adelaide to support academic staff
in their submissions for national awards. As a result,
SANTPEN Institutions in 2018 won 10 National Citation
Awards.

RESEARCH OFFICE

GRADUATE SCHOOL

The Research Office continued to provide strategic
leadership, evaluation, reporting and support for all
research activity at Batchelor Institute across 2018. The
Office led implementation of Batchelor Institute Research
Plan 2016-2020 and coordinated development and
review of policy and procedures related to research.

In 2018 the Graduate School supported Higher Degree by
Research candidates to engage in a robust, First Nations’
approach to research training and advanced learning.
Masters and PhD candidates undertook studies in 2018
in core research areas of Education, Languages, Creative
Industries and Livelihoods.

The Research Office supported development of a
number of research applications and provided oversight
to grant management and reporting. The Office
managed Batchelor Institute’s Research Committee and
administered staff/student research ethics arrangements
in partnership with the Australian Institute of Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander Studies (AIATSIS). The Office
administered the commonwealth Research Training
Program (RTP) and Research Support Program (RSP)
research block grants, the Indigenous Student Success
Program (ISSP) and Batchelor Institute’s Adjunct program.

Higher Degree by Research candidate enrolments in 2018
were as follows:

In 2018, the Office coordinated Institute submission with
respect to:
[[ Excellence for Research in Australia (ERA)
[[ Australian Research Council (ARC) Engagement and
Impact assessment
[[ Higher Education Research Data Collection (HERDC)

Course
Code

Course Name

# of students
enrolled in
2018

MIK

Master of Indigenous
Knowledges

1

MIP

Masters of Indigenous
Perspectives by Research

2

PHD

Doctor of Philosophy
(Indigenous Knowledges)

1

PHDIP

Doctor of Philosophy
Indigenous Perspectives

12

Male: 4

Female: 12

Key activities and outcomes of the Graduate School
across 2018 included:
[[ The external cyclical review and reaccreditation of
the Masters and PhD of Indigenous Perspectives and
the development of a proposal for a new Masters by
Research and Doctor of Philosophy program.
[[ Development of an Indigenous Student Success
Program scholarship framework for eligible Higher
Degree by Research candidates.
[[ Establishment of a new Higher Degree by Research
candidate performance and progression system.
[[ Revision of the Graduate School website.
[[ One Masters student graduated in 2018.
[[ Two research candidates participated in a capacity
building workshop hosted by the National Indigenous
Research and Knowledge Network (NIRAKN) on the
Gold Coast in November.

Image: Masters of Indigenous Knowledges
Graduate Mr Edward (Ted) Lovelock
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NEW RESEARCH PROJECTS IN 2018
EVALUATION OF SUICIDE STORY
Suicide Story is a suicide prevention program auspiced
by the Mental Health Association of Central Australia.
It was designed by, with and for Aboriginal people in
the Northern Territory and has been run with over 500
participants since 2008. An evaluation was commissioned
to assess the program’s impact. Data collection occurred
between June and October 2018.The evaluation found
that Suicide Story workshop has achieved increased levels
of awareness among participants. More importantly it
has created a language to discuss an otherwise taboo
subject in many remote communities. The evaluation
also found that follow-up processes could be stronger to
ensure that the learnings from workshop are embedded in
community-led actions that will support communities to
be more suicide-safe. A final report has been submitted
to MHACA.

A small project initiated by the Department of Education
in Queensland sought to establish what classroom
practices were considered to be effective for English
as an Additional Language or Dialect (EALD) First
Nations’ learners in Australia. The project was auspiced
by Ninti One Limited and a report was prepared for the
Department in April 2018. The study found that while
there were plenty of practices used and recommended
none could demonstrate a link to improved academic
performance.
RURAL AND REMOTE WELLBEING PILOT

inDigiMOB is a partnership between Telstra and First
Nations Media Australia. The program has been delivering
digital inclusion activities in several locations across
the Northern Territory since 2016. FNMA commissioned
Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary Education to
conduct a formative evaluation of the second year of the
program. Interviews and surveys were conducted with
participants in Alice Springs, Yuendumu and Ramingining,
together with other stakeholders, in September 2018.

A pilot study involving students engaged in Certificate
II, III, IV units that focus on various aspects of wellbeing
examines the ways that students perceive and apply their
learning to their work, community and family contexts.
The project was set up to support an application for a
Centre of Excellence which was prepared by Australian
Catholic University (ACU).

AUSTRALIANS TOGETHER RESEARCH
Australians Together is a not for profit organization
committed to reconciliation between First Nations’ people
and non-Indigenous people in Australia. The organization
commissioned Batchelor Institute to investigate the
impact of a workshop conducted in two Victorian Schools.

Batchelor Institute

EFFECTIVE EALD PEDAGOGIES

EVALUATION OF INDIGIMOB

The evaluation found that the program was effective in
achieving several intended aspects of digital inclusion
among participants through a variety of community
based activities. A report to inDigiMOB has been delivered
ahead of a summative third year evaluation to be
conducted in 2019.
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The workshops were designed to equip teachers with
resources to enable them to better teach aspects of the
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Cross Curricula
priority. Focus groups and interviews were conducted with
staff at the schools in October 2018. The research found
that the workshop raised awareness and had a strong
affective impact on staff. A report to Australians Together
has been delivered.

The pilot study involved a single focus group involving
12 students who were studying at/through Batchelor’s
Desert Peoples Centre campus in Alice Springs. The ACU’s
Institute for Positive Psychology and Education wellbeing
model was used as a frame of reference to analyse the
findings from the focus group. The focus group was
conducted in early May 2018 with students based in
Tennant Creek. The findings were documented in a report
to ACU at the end of May 2018.

CENTRE FOR AUSTRALIAN
LANGUAGES AND LINGUISTICS
2018 marked another busy and productive year for the
Centre for Australian Languages and Linguistics (CALL)
culminating in mid-October with CALL’s co-hosting of
the Western and Northern Aboriginal Language Alliance
(WANALA) Forum: ‘The Art of Language & The Language
of Art’ with Wadeye Community, supported by Batchelor
Institute and the Thamarrurr Local Government. The year
also saw the continuation and realisation of key longand short-term projects underscoring CALL’s pivotal work
in supporting language revival and maintenance.
The WANALA Language Forum is a biennial conference
of the Western and Northern Aboriginal Languages
Alliance which was established in 2013. The hosting
of WANALA 2018 from 15-18 October, over numerous
sites and for around 100 delegates Australia-wide, was
a major logistical feat made possible with Batchelor
Institute’s strategic and practical support. The Forum
was a prime opportunity to promote Kungarakan culture
through the launch of a number of Kungarakan language
resources and the central involvement of Kungarakan
representatives in the opening ceremony, workshops and
the Forum dinner. One of the workshops, for example,
looked at the use of drones to document country for
mapping Dreaming journeys and the registration of
sacred sites. As part of the workshop, participants were
taken to the Magnetic Ant Hills at Litchfield National
Park with a Kungarakan Elder who provided them with
an open Kungarakan creation story relating to the site
to help inspire their drone-mapping.

with a significant art exhibition, Our Art Our Culture,
that premiered at the Coomalie Art Centre as part of the
Forum.
Over 14 language centres across Australia were represented
at WANALA 2018 along with representatives from 18
organisations together with independent delegates.
Collectively delegates expressed the value of the Forum
in “strengthening our language journey” as well as the
political challenges of their work: “We demand a national
language legislation that protects our rights as language
keepers and educators.” (Forum Statement)
The CALL Collection database and website continues
to gain traction since its momentous launch last year.
Managed in partnership with the Batchelor Institute
Library, the CALL Collection represents a unique and
comprehensive treasure of First Nations’ languagerelated resources. The online database currently houses
3724 item records representing 134 Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander languages and over 2415 contributors from
81 communities.

Also central to the success of WANALA 2018 was
CALL’s co-hosting partnership with the Wadeye
Community. This was realised through a number
of Forum workshops taking place over one day
at Wadeye and the involvement of the Wadeye
Aboriginal Language Centre and the Wadeye Men’s
Shed, as well as the Wadeye Dancers performing
during the opening ceremony. The opening of the
workshop day at Wadeye celebrated the repatriation
of a rare diary, documenting different languages and
community members who served with the Australian Air
Force during World War II at Da Thuykem (Airforce Hill).
Leading up to the Forum CALL was successful in obtaining
funding to work with artists from the Wadeye Men’s
Shed on researching local rock art which culminated
Image: WANALA Conference
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Image: (above) Drone shot of WANALA 2018 participants,
Batchelor Institute Campus.
(right) Noel Nannup presents the soldering tools to Malvuyin
‘Wanhbu’ Claver Dumoo to take back to Wadeye to complete
their design on the collaborative Message Stick

PROJECTS
CALL’s project focus on Northern Territory and Northern
Western Australian languages continued to strengthen
and expand with increased funding including from
philanthropic organisations and an increased investment
in digital resources. Projects include:
[[ Kungarakan Language Program Project, funded by
Indigenous Languages and Arts (ILA)
[[ Pertame Language School, funded by First Languages
Australia (FLA)
[[ Mawng Kunbarlang Projects, a digital language
resource for Warruwi
[[ Maningrida Sign Language Project, funded by ILA
[[ Lúrra Language and Culture Program
[[ Mowanjum Endangered Languages Project: Worrora,
Wunambal and Nygarinyin
[[ Wunambal Language Revival classes, in partnership
with the Wunambal Gaambre Association, funded by
ILA
[[ Wadeye Endangered Languages Project including
Wadeye sacred site registration: Thamarrurr Rangers
and 26 clan groups living in the Thamarrurr Region,
funded by ILA and Thamarrurr Development
Corporation
34
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[[

[[

[[

[[
[[
[[
[[

[[
[[
[[

Wadeye Men’s Art Project: Magati Ke, Marri Ngarr,
Marri Amu, Marri Tjevin, Jaminjung, Murinhpatha, in
partnership with Thamarrurr Development Corporation
Western and Northern Aboriginal Language Alliance
(WANALA) 2018 Forum with Wadeye Community,
funded by ILA
Centralian Language Activities, funded by ILA
- Pertame Language Documentation Project
- Maningrida Language Project
- Wadeye Endangered Languages Project
Pertame Language Documentation Project
Arrernte Language Resource Project
Arrernte Digital Resources Project including Arrernte
digital dictionary, Newman’s Own and
Akeyulerre Healing Cards and curriculum guide, in
partnership with Institute for Aboriginal Development,
funded by Newman’s Own Foundation
Djinang and Wurlaki documentation project, funded
by FLA
Magati Ke and Marri Ngarr Archival retrieval project,
funded by FLA
Marri Amu and Marri Tjevin Archival retrieval project,
funded by FLA.

2018
CALL
PROJECT
GRANTS
NT Language Centre support

400K

Arandic, Maningrida, Wadeye Endangered Languages

100K

WANALA 2018 Forum
Mowanjum Endangered Languages

200K

Language Revival Projects

25K

Pertame, Marri Amu, Marri Tjevin, Magati Ke,
Marri Ngarr, Djinang, Wurlaki

Indigenous Languages and Arts Program

50K

Kungarakan

Community Broadcasting Foundation

CALL PROJECT GRANTS COLLABORATIONS

5K

[[
[[

Collaborations in 2018 with CALL include:
[[ Research Unit for Indigenous Language, University of
Melbourne Arts and Culture programs in Maningrida
(Maningrida Arts and Culture, Bábbarra Women’s
Centre, Lúrra Language and Culture Program at
Maningrida College)
[[ Wadeye Language and Art Project: Thamarrurr Men’s
Shed
[[ Western and Northern Aboriginal Language Alliance
(WANALA)
[[ Living Archives of Aboriginal Languages (LAAL),
Charles Darwin University
[[ Mowanjum Art and Culture Centre
[[ Thamarrurr Development Corporation
[[ Thamarrurr Rangers
[[ Thamarrurr OLSH Wadeye College
[[ Kungarakan Education and Culture Association

Wunambal Gaambra Association: Uungun Rangers
InyerPocket digital publishing

BATCHELOR INSTITUTE PRESS
Batchelor Institute Press remained committed to its core
operation of enabling and supporting the documentation
and dissemination of First Nations’ languages and
knowledges.
In this vein Batchelor Institute Press continued to uphold
its reputation as one of the nation’s premier research
and publishing hubs for the production of up-to-date
Aboriginal language teaching and learning resources
with a particular focus on Northern Territory and Northern
Western Australian Aboriginal languages and knowledges.
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Batchelor Institute Press maintained its focus on Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander publishing through publishing
the work of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander authors,
illustrators and designers, through the involvement of
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cultural advisors and
knowledge experts and through privileging Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander-related content.
The year saw Batchelor Institute Press continue significant
partnerships with internal and external clients including
through the Press’s role as a distribution service within
Batchelor Institute and externally for First Nations’ related
publications in addition to those under the Batchelor
Press imprint. The year also saw a renewed focus on the
development of the Press’s e-publishing arm and initial
work begun on conversion of First Nations’ language
resources and the production of a range of ebooks for
release in 2019.
PUBLICATIONS
In 2018, Batchelor Institute Press launched a range of
language learning and related resources representing a
number of language groups across the Northern Territory
and Western Australia. These are largely language groups
with which the Press has sustained a working relationship
over decades.

Birrka marnini: Making things Mudburra*
Maningrida kinship sign posters
[[ Maningrida fish poster
[[ Akeyulerre healing cards*
[[ Arrernte Digital Project recordings
[[ Great Journeys undertaken by Aboriginal people in
ancient times in Western Australia*
[[ Kungarakan Language Resources
[[ Wadeye Men’s Shed Our Art Our Culture exhibition
catalogue
[[ Kanhi-ka da i murrinh ngarra kardu Thamarrurr numi
da pubemkardurdu, The Countries and Languages of
People Gathered Together in Wadeye
[[ Nyoongar Bootjda – Koomba Bardip Kooratan,
Nyoongar Land, Long Story Short
[[ Belaa Plants and Animals: Bicultural knowledge of the
Kwini people of the far north Kimberley, Australia
[[ Gija Plants and Animals, Aboriginal flora and fauna
knowledge from the east Kimberley, north Australia
[[ Mowanjum Material Objects book*
[[ Language, Land and Song, Studies in honour of Luise
Hercus
*Publications produced in 2018 for release in 2019
[[
[[

Image: Fiona Napaljarri Gibson at the signing of We
Always Stay, Stories from seven remarkable Aboriginal
teachers in remote Australia
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Kanhi-ka da i murrinh ngarra kardu
Thamarrurr numi da pubemkardurdu
The Countries and Languages of Peoples Gathered Together in Wadeye

Wadeye Men’s Shed present

‘Our Art Our Culture’
Wednesday 17th October, 2018

Teresa Ward FDNSC
Wadeye_Part 1_v5.2.indd 1

Cover, Our Art Our Culture exhibition catalogue
produced with Wadeye Men’s Shed

27/04/2018 12:31 pm

Cover of Terese Ward’s Kanhi-ka da i
murrinh ngarra kardu Thamarrurr numi da
pubemkardurdu, The Countries and Languages
of People Gathered Together in Wadeye produced
with the Wadeye Aboriginal Languages Centre

Ngabarra-bórrmanga Ndjébbana

bábba father;
ngánja aunt (father’s sister)

djábba, karlamára brother and sister
(older, younger); nbarélabba,
nja-barélabba younger brother, sister;
máwa father’s father

kíkka mother;
djádja uncle (mother’s brother);
rdóyrdoy grand-daughter’s children

kíkka mother;
ngákarda, ngangákarda,
ngamángabba woman’s child,
sister’s child

ka-rókkadja baby

kúdjala mother’s mother, mother’s
mother’s brother, daughter’s child

njanjdjórrkkabba,
nganjdjórrkkabba husband, wife;
mámam mother’s father;
mákka father’s mother

njanjdjórrkkabba,
nganjdjórrkkabba husband, wife;
mámam mother’s father;
mákka father’s mother

mámam mother’s father;
mákka father’s mother

djóngok mother-in-law ‘poison cousin’

djóngok, ngarra-nángandi mother in
law ‘poison cousin’

djóngok mother in law,
‘poison cousin’
(hold forearm when giving)

Drawings by Jennifer Taylor and graphic design by Chris Storey.
Thank you to Crusoe Batara, Carolyn Coleman, Lena Djabíbba, Millie Djamuddjana, Raymond Walanggay England, Dorothy Galaledba,
Murray Garde, Janet Gumbiyarra, Melba Gurrjarrwanga, Patrick Murtchana, Mary Na-barlanggarra, Trixie Nadjerrdjerr, S. Namundja,
Eric Pascoe, Leonie Pascoe, Simon Pascoe, Margaret Rinybuma, Monica Wilton, Telina Wilton, Jennifer Wurrkidj, Lúrra Language and
Culture at Maningrida College, Maningrida Arts and Culture.
Maningrida Action project coordinated by Margaret Carew and Jennifer Green, and supported by an Australian Research Council
Award (DE160100873).

Indigenous Languages and Arts

One of three Maningrida Kinship Sign Posters
for Djinang/Wurlaki, Burrara/Gun-nartpa and
Ndjébbana languages

Cover, Nyoongar Bootjda – Koomba Bardip
Kooratan, Nyoongar Land, Long Story Short by
Francesca Robertson, Noel Nannup, Glen Stasiuk
and Stephen Hopper, produced in association
with Edith Cowan University
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FINANCIAL REPORT
MEMBERS’ REPORT

MEETING OF MEMBERS

The members of the Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary
Education (Batchelor Institute) Council present the following report
on the Batchelor Institute for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The numbers of meetings of the members of Batchelor Institute
Council and of the Finance, Audit and Risk Management Committee
held during the year ended 31 December 2018, and the numbers of
meetings attended by each member were:		

As established under the Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary
Education Act 1999 Batchelor Institute’s Council consists of up to
nine members. At the date of signing this report, six of the seven
members, including the Chairperson, were Aboriginal and/or Torres
Strait Islander. Professor Markham Rose was the Chairperson until 12
December 2018 and, along with the other Council members, provides
relevant and diverse industry and cultural representation. The
following persons were members of Batchelor Institute Council during
the whole of the year and up to the date of this report or as otherwise
noted:					
[[ Ms Patricia Anderson AO (Chair) appointed 4 February 2019
[[ Mr Russell Taylor AM (Deputy Chair and Chair of FARMC) appointed
4 February 2019
[[ Professor Boni Robertson (appointed interim Deputy Chair
12 December 2018 and resigned on 4 February 2019)
[[ Ms Vicki Baylis became a member on 01 February 2018
[[ Professor Steve Larkin became a member on 26 March 2018
[[ Ms Lauren Ganley became a member on 4 February 2019
[[ Mr Liam Fraser was elected a member by staff vote on
14 September 2018 and endorsed by the NT Administrator as a
member on 4 February 2019
[[ Mr Louis Kantilla was elected a member by students’ vote on
14 September 2018 and endorsed by the NT Administrator as a
member on 4 February 2019.
Council members who resigned, no longer held positions which
accorded them membership on Council or whose membership term
expired during the reporting period
[[ Professor Markham Rose (Chair) for the period 01 January 2018 to
12 December 2018
[[ Dr Gary Thomas was a member of the Council for the period of
02 November 2017 to 30 March 2018
[[ Ms Louise Dyer resigned from the Council on 22 May 2018
[[ Professor Adrian Miller resigned from Council on 31 May 2018
[[ Mr Heath Baxter term of office was completed on 18 August 2018
[[ Mr Lawrence Webster term of office was completed on
18 August 2018
[[ Mr Peter McCaffrey resigned from Council on 23 February 2018		
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Member’s Name

Council
Meetings
A

B

Finance,
Audit
and Risk
Management
Committee
A

B

Professor Markham Rose

6

6

Professor Boni Robertson

4

6

Ms Louise Dyer

-

2

Mr Heath Baxter

2

4

Mr Lawrence Webster

4

4

Professor Adrian Miller

-

2

Mr Peter McCaffrey

1

1

1

1

Ms Vicki Baylis

5

6

4

4

Professor Steve Larkin

5

5

4

4

Dr Gary Thomas

1

1

1

1

Ms Naomi Bonson

1

1

Ms Melissa Kerr

1

1

Mr Ross Springolo

1

1

Ms Leah Atkinson

5

5

Mr Philip Anderson

4

4

Mr Rowan Gronlund

1

4

Mr Matthew Kennon

2

2

A = Number of meetings attended.
B = Number of meetings held during the time the member held office or was a member
of the committee during the year.						

		

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

• The Department of Education, VET in Schools program
by $0.3 million and the Training for Assistant Teachers
in Remote Schools program which ceased in 2017
($1.5 million).
• The Department of Trade Business and Innovation
specific purpose training contract funding by
$0.6 million (which include the Supplementary
Recurrent Assistance funding, Indigenous Tutorial
Assistance Scheme (VET), Capital Works funding and
VET Equipment grant).
• The Department of Attorney General and Justice
(Corrections contract) by $0.1 million.
• Department of Housing and Community Development
project which ceased in 2017 ($0.1 million).

The principal functions of Batchelor Institute include:
a)

providing tertiary education relevant to the needs of
indigenous people; and
b) facilitating, encouraging, developing and improving study and
research, particularly in subjects of relevance to indigenous
people; and
c) providing other educational programs and courses of study
or instruction, including vocational education and training,
courses of higher education and cultural studies; and
d) accrediting the educational programs and courses offered by
Batchelor Institute.
					

•• offset by increases in other program funding of $0.1 million.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND POSITION
For 2018 Batchelor Institute recorded an operating deficit of
$1.2 million (2017: $0.2 million), an increase in losses of $1 million.
Income decreased by $8.7 million (20.9%) in comparison to the
previous year mainly due to:
[[ decreases in the following:
a) Australian Government funding by $3.3 million (19.3%) mainly
due to:
•• decreases in the following program funding:
• Indigenous Education Away from Base funding by
$2.8 million.
• Childcare support funding by $0.3 million.
• Office of the Arts Indigenous Broadcasting and
Languages Projects by $0.2 million.
• Promotion of Excellence in Learning and Teaching
in HE, Education Research grants and other project
funding by $0.1 million.
•• offset by increases in the following program funding:
• National Institutes and Indigenous Student Success
Program funding by $0.1 million.
b)

Northern Territory Government funding by $5.1 million (30.3%)
mainly due to:
•• decreases in the following program funding:
• The Department of Trade Business and Innovation
general purpose training contract funding by
$2.6 million due to non-achievement of training targets.
This was driven by the recruitment freeze during the
first half of the year which resulted in a decrease in
course delivery and lower student numbers.

[[

c)

Fees and charges by $0.5 million (42.4%) mainly due to VET
student numbers reducing by 687 in 2018 compared with the
prior year.

d)

Services received free of charge by $0.1 million (15.9%) due to
fewer transactions processed by the Department of Corporate
and Information Services.

Offset by increases in:
e) Consultancy and contracts revenue by $0.2 million (3.8%)
mainly due to an increase in the fee for service revenue.
f)

Interest revenue by $0.1 million (64.3%) due to higher cash
balances during the year.

Expenses decreased by $7.6 million (18.3%) in comparison to the
previous year mainly due to:
[[ Decreases in:
a) Employee related expenses by $4.9 million (18.7%) due to staff
vacancies as a result of a recruitment freeze for the first half
of 2018 and a delay in recruitment activity to positions in the
second half of 2018;
b)

Depreciation, repairs and maintenance and other expenses
by $2.9 million (19.4%) mainly due to lower expenses for
advertising, consumables, contracted services, motor vehicles,
equipment, property management and travel expenses in
2018. This was mainly due to internal cash management
strategies to slow down repairs and maintenance work
to urgent and minor works and strengthening of financial
delegations to control the spending within the Institute; and

c)

Services received free of charge by $0.1 million (15.9%) due to
less transactions processed by the Department of Corporate
and Information Services.
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[[

Offset by increases in:

Bad and doubtful debt expense by $0.3 million due to student
and other debtors written off in 2018 for which there was no
provision from prior years.
The overall cash position of Batchelor Institute increased by
$6.6 million (191.2%) between years due to increased cash management
strategies including renegotiating payment terms for contracts and
ensuring vendors are paid when due and not sooner.

INSURANCE OF OFFICERS

d)

ASSET PURCHASES AND CAPITAL WORKS
During 2018, Batchelor Institute had major capital works in progress
amounting to $0.4 million for the refurbishment of campus roofing
and upgrading the fire alarm equipment.

Batchelor Institute has professional indemnity insurance that covers
members of Council and its committees and officers against claims
arising from their involvement in the activities of Batchelor Institute.
PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF BATCHELOR INSTITUTE
There were no proceedings ongoing against Batchelor Institute as at
the end of the reporting period.
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the members
of the Council.

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL
YEAR
There were no material events after balance date required to be
incorporated into the Financial Statements or disclosed in the Notes
to the Financial Statements.
LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS
Likely developments in the operations of Batchelor Institute and the
expected results of those operations in future financial years have
not been included in this report as the inclusion of such information is
likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to Batchelor Institute.
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Ms Patricia Anderson AO
Chair of Council
Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary Education
7th day of June 2019
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INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
Note

Economic Entity
2018

2017

$’000

$’000
*Restated

Income from continuing operations
Australian Government financial assistance

3

13,624

16,887

NT Government financial assistance

4

11,702

16,791

Fees and charges

5

647

1,123

Investment revenue

6

189

115

Consultancy and contracts

7

5,512

5,312

Goods and services received free of charge *

14

615

731

Other revenue

8

531

514

32,820

41,473

Total income from continuing operations
Expenses from continuing operations
Employee related expenses

9

21,289

26,182

Depreciation and amortisation

10

1,669

1,761

Repairs and maintenance

11

263

282

Impairment of assets

12

249

1

Goods and services received free of charge *

14

615

731

Other expenses

13

9,973

12,725

Total expenses from continuing operations

34,058

41,682

Net result for the year

(1,238)

(209)

The above income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
* Goods and Services received free of charge have been disclosed separately and comparative figures have been restated accordingly.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
Note

Net result for the year

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

(1,238)

(209)

Gain on revaluation of buildings

23

-

1,873

Loss on revaluation of infrastructure

23

-

(41)

Loss on revaluation of land

23

-

(287)

Loss on revaluation of cultural and heritage assets

23

-

(1,142)

(1,238)

194

Total comprehensive income / (loss)

The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018
Note

Economic Entity
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

15

10,066

3,457

Receivables

16

935

6,370

Other assets

17

544

618

11,545

10,445

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

18

31,326

32,550

Intangible assets

19

-

-

Total non-current assets

31,326

32,550

Total assets

42,871

42,995

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

20

1,796

1,244

Provisions

21

3,460

3,946

Other liabilities

22

3,701

2,158

8,957

7,348

267

334

267

334

9,224

7,682

33,647

35,313

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions

21

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Equity
Reserves

23 (a)

30,741

30,741

Retained surplus

23 (b)

2,906

4,572

33,647

35,313

Total equity

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
Note

Economic Entity
Reserves

Retained
Surplus

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

30,741

4,572

35,313

Adoption of AASB 9 adjustment

-

(428)

(428)

Net result

-

(1,238)

(1,238)

30,741

2,906

33,647

30,338

4,781

35,119

-

(209)

(209)

1,873

-

1,873

(41)

-

(41)

(287)

-

(287)

(1,142)

-

(1,142)

30,741

4,572

35,313

Balance at 1 January 2018

Balance at 31 December 2018

23

Balance at 1 January 2017
Net result
Gain on revaluation of buildings
Loss on revaluation of Infrastructure
Loss on revaluation of land
Loss on revaluation of cultural and heritage assets
Balance at 31 December 2017

23

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
Note

Economic Entity
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

16,866

15,470

14,472

16,625

7,039

7,233

189

127

(31,613)

(40,680)

98

(24)

7,051

(1,249)

(442)

(634)

Net cash used in investing activities

(442)

(634)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

6,609

(1,883)

3,457

5,340

10,066

3,457

Cash flows from operating activities
Australian Government grants

3

NT Government grants
Receipts from student fees and other customers
Interest received

6

Payments to suppliers and employees
GST recovered / (paid)
Net cash from / (used in) operating activities

30

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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15

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
NOTE 		

CONTENTS OF THE NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1		
2		

Summary of significant accounting policies
Disaggregated information

INCOME
3		
4		
5		
6		
7		
8		

Australian Government financial assistance including HECS-HELP and other Australian Government loan programs
Northern Territory Government financial assistance
Fees and charges
Investment revenue
Consultancy and contracts
Other revenue

EXPENSES
9		
10		
11		
12		
13		
14		

Employee related expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Repairs and maintenance
Impairment of assets
Other expenses
Services received free of charge

ASSETS
15		
16		
17		
18		
19		

Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Other assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

LIABILITIES
20		
Trade and other payables
21		 Provisions
22		
Other liabilities

EQUITY
23		
24		
25		
26		
27		
28		
29		
30		
31		
32		
33		

Reserves and retained earnings
Key management personnel disclosures
Remuneration of auditors
Contingencies
Commitments
Economic dependency
Events occurring after the balance sheet date
Reconciliation of operating result after income tax to net cash flows (used in) from operating activities
Financial risk management
Fair value measurements
Acquittal of Australian Government financial assistance
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Batchelor College was established as a Body Corporate on 1 July 1989
under Section 41 of the Education Act 2004. On 1 April 1995 the College
became an Agency under the Financial Management Act 1995 and the
Public Sector Employment and Management Act 1993. On 1 July 1999
the Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary Education Act 1999 (the
Act) came into operation and the Batchelor Institute of Indigenous
Tertiary Education (Batchelor Institute) was established. The functions
of the Institute are detailed in Part 2 Section 7 of the Act. A review of
the Act was completed during 2016 and the amended Act was passed
by Parliament in April 2017.
Batchelor Institute is a multi-campus, dual-sector institution,
providing both Higher Education and Vocational Education and
Training courses. The principal address of Batchelor Institute is Awilla
Road, Batchelor, Northern Territory, 0845.
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
financial statements are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years reported unless otherwise stated.
(A) BASIS OF PREPARATION
Section 46 of the Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary Education
Act 1999 requires the Chief Executive Officer, at the end of each
financial year, to prepare and have audited, financial statements in
respect of the financial year. The annual financial statements are a
general purpose financial report, which are prepared on an accrual
basis in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (AAS),
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB), Interpretations and
the Financial Statement Guidelines for Australian Higher Education
Providers for the 2018 reporting period as issued by the Australian
Government Department of Education and Training (DET).
Going Concern
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis which contemplates continuity of normal business activities and
the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the ordinary
course of business. During the year the Institute recorded a loss of
$1,238,000 (2017: $209,000 loss). Management have implemented
cash management initiatives which have successfully controlled
and reduced the level of expenditure, as well as negotiated revised
payment terms from customers which have resulted in improving the
cash position of the Institute both currently (cash at bank balance
as at 3 May 2019 is $10.1 million) and for the period of at least
12 months after the reporting date such that the Council believe that it
is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern
basis. Refer also to Note 28 which outlines the economic dependency
based on continued funding and support of the Australian and
Northern Territory Governments.
Date of authorisation for issue
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Council
members of Batchelor Institute on the same date the Financial Report
has been signed by the Council members.
Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain classes of
non-current assets, which are disclosed at fair value.
46

Batchelor Institute

Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the
Australian Accounting Standards requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Batchelor Institute’s
accounting policies. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed below.
The Council evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into
the financial statements based on historical knowledge and the
best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable
expectation of future events and are based on current trends and
economic data obtained both externally and within Batchelor Institute.
No accounting assumptions or estimates have been identified that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
(B) INVESTMENTS IN OTHER ENTITIES
Batchelor Institute, through a joint venture agreement with the Centre
for Appropriate Technology Inc., has a 50% interest in the Desert
Peoples Centre Inc., an association incorporated under the Associations
Act 1963. The fair value of this investment has been deemed to be nil
due to the not-for-profit status of the Desert Peoples Centre Inc. and
its constitution which precludes any profits being shared between the
partners.
(C) REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of returns,
trade allowances rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. Batchelor Institute recognises revenue when the amount can
be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to Batchelor Institute and specific criteria have been met
for each of Batchelor Institute’s activities as described below. The
amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable until
all contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. Batchelor
Institute bases its estimates on historical results, taking into
consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the
specifics of each arrangement. Revenue is recognised for the major
business activities as follows:
(i) Government grants
Non-reciprocal grant revenue is recognised in profit or loss when
Batchelor Institute obtains control of the grant and it is probable that
the economic benefits gained from the grant will flow to the Institute
and the amount of the grant can be measured reliably. If conditions
are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before it is eligible to
receive the contribution, the recognition of the grant as revenue will be
deferred until those conditions are satisfied.
When grant revenue is received whereby Batchelor Institute incurs an
obligation to deliver economic value directly back to the contributor,
this is considered a reciprocal transaction and the grant revenue is
recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability until
the service has been delivered to the contributor, otherwise the grant
is recognised as income on receipt. Batchelor Institute receives nonreciprocal contributions of assets from the government for a zero or a
nominal value. These assets are recognised at fair value on the date of
acquisition in the statement of financial position, with a corresponding
amount of income recognised in the income statement.

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(C) REVENUE RECOGNITION (CONTINUED)
(ii) Student fees and charges
Fees and charges are recognised as income in the year of receipt,
except to the extent that fees and charges relate to courses to be held
in future periods.
Such income is treated as income in advance. Conversely, fees and
charges relating to debtors are recognised as revenue in the year to
which the prescribed course relates.
(iii) Consultancy and contracts/ fee for service
Contract revenue is recognised in accordance with the percentage of
completion method. The stage of completion is measured in reference
to labour hours incurred to date as a percentage of estimated total
labour hours for each contract. Other human resources revenue is
recognised when the service is provided. A liability is recognised for
revenue received prior to goods and services being provided in the
same reporting period.
(iv) Investment revenue
Investment revenue is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method, which for floating rate financial assets is the
rate inherent in the instrument.
(v) Other revenue
Non-government grants are recognised in accordance with the
substance of the relevant agreements. Revenue in the form of
donations and bequests is brought to account when received. Revenue
from the sale of minor assets is recognised when the entity has passed
control to the buyer.
(D) INCOME TAX
Batchelor Institute is a public authority within the meaning of Section
50-25 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 and its income is
exempt under the provisions of that Act.
(E) LEASES
Leases of property, plant and equipment where Batchelor Institute,
as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at
the lease’s inception at the lower of the fair value of the leased
property and the present value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included
in other short-term and long-term payables. Each lease payment
is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost
is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment
acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term. Batchelor Institute does not
have any finance leases.
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases (Note 27). Payments made under operating leases (net of
any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income
statement on a straight-line basis, over the period of the lease.

(F) IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
At the end of each reporting period, the entity assesses whether there
is any indication that a non-financial asset may be impaired. If such
an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by
comparing the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of
the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, to the asset’s
carrying amount. Any excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its
recoverable amount is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
the asset is carried at a revalued amount in accordance with another
Standard (e.g. in accordance with the revaluation model in AASB 116).
Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation
decrease in accordance with that other Standard.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the entity estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Impairment
testing is performed annually for goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite lives.
(G) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
For statement of cash flows presentation purposes, cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial
institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown
within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial
position.
(H) TRADE RECEIVABLES
Classification and measurement
Trade receivables are held to collect contractual cash flows and give
rise to cash flows representing solely payments of principal and
interest. At initial recognition trade receivables are measured at their
transaction price and subsequently these are classified and measured
as debt instruments at amortised cost. Trade receivables are due for
settlement no more than 30 days from the date of recognition.
Impairment
For trade receivables Batchelor Institute applies a simplified approach
in calculating expected credit losses (“ECLs”). Therefore, Batchelor
Institute does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
Batchelor Institute has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision
for impairment of receivables is established when there is objective
evidence that Batchelor Institute will not be able to collect all amounts
due according to the original terms of the receivable. Significant
financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in
payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that
the trade receivable is impaired.
Doubtful debts expense was recognised as the movement in the
allowance for doubtful debts. From 1 January 2018, expected credit
losses expense is recognised as the movement in the allowance for
expected credit losses.
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(H) TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
Impairment (continued)
Refer to note 16 (a) Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade
receivables.
(I) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial
asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of
another entity.
Initial Recognition and Measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss.
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
Batchelor Institute’s business model for managing them. With
the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component, Batchelor Institute initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the
principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the
SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.
Batchelor Institute’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or
both.
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date,
i.e., the date that Batchelor Institute commits to purchase or sell the
asset.
Subsequent Measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are
classified in five categories:
[[ Financial assets at amortised cost
[[ Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
[[ Investments in equity instruments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income
[[ Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
[[ Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
(i) Financial assets at amortised cost
Batchelor Institute measures financial assets at amortised cost if both
of the following conditions are met
[[ The financial asset is held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows; and
[[ The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified
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dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest (EIR) method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired. Batchelor Institute’s financial
assets at amortised cost includes trade receivables.
(ii) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income
Batchelor Institute measures debt instruments at fair value through
OCI if both of the following conditions are met:
[[ The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling; and
[[ The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income,
foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are
recognised in the income statement and computed in the same manner
as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining
fair value changes are recognised in OCI. Upon derecognition, the
cumulative fair value change recognised in OCI is recycled to profit or
loss. Batchelor Institute currently does not hold debt instruments at
fair value through OCI.
(iii) Investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income
Upon initial recognition, Batchelor Institute can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments designated
at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity
under AASB132 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held
for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-byinstrument basis.
Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to
profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in the income
statement when the right of payment has been established, except
when Batchelor Institute benefits from such proceeds as a recovery
of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are
recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated at fair value through
OCI are not subject to impairment assessment. Batchelor Institute
currently does not hold equity instruments designated at fair value
through OCI.
(iv) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (including
designated)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of
principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the
criteria for debt instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at
fair value through OCI, as described above, debt instruments may be
designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if
doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(I) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)
(iv) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (including
designated) (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the income statement.
This category includes derivative instruments and listed equity
investments which Batchelor Institute had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through OCI. Dividends on listed equity
investments are also recognised as other income in the income
statement when the right of payment has been established.
Batchelor Institute currently does not hold financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.
Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from Batchelor Institute’s statement of financial
position) when:
[[ The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or
[[ Batchelor Institute has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) Batchelor Institute has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b)
Batchelor Institute has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.
When Batchelor Institute has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a passthrough arrangement, it
evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards
of ownership.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the
risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset,
Batchelor Institute continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, Batchelor Institute
also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that Batchelor Institute
has retained. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that Batchelor Institute could be required to repay.
Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount
is reported in the consolidated statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
Impairment of debt instruments other than receivables
Batchelor Institute recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments other than receivables and

not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that Batchelor Institute expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, Batchelor Institute
applies the low credit risk simplification. At every reporting date,
Batchelor Institute evaluates whether the debt instrument is
considered to have low credit risk using all reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort. In making
that evaluation, Batchelor Institute reassesses the internal credit rating
of the debt instrument. In addition, Batchelor Institute considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.
Batchelor Institute considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, Batchelor Institute may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that Batchelor
Institute is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by
Batchelor Institute. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate. All financial liabilities are recognised
initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.
Batchelor Institute’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables.
Subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (including
designated)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon
initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred
for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category also
includes derivative financial instruments entered into by Batchelor
Institute that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships as defined by AASB9. Separated embedded derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments.
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(I) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (including
designated) (continued)
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the
income statement.
Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of recognition,
and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. Batchelor Institute has
not designated any financial liability as at fair value through profit or
loss.
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the
income statement. This category generally applies to interest-bearing
loans and borrowings. Batchelor Institute does not hold any interestbearing loans or borrowings.
Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.
Financial guarantees
Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial liability at
the time the guarantee is issued.
The liability is initially measured at fair value and subsequently at
the higher of the amount determined in accordance with the expected
credit loss model under AASB9 and the amount initially recognised
less, where appropriate, the cumulative amount of income.
The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on the
present value of the difference in cash flows between the contractual
payments required under the debt instrument and the payments that
would be required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount
that would be payable to a third party for assuming the obligations.
Batchelor Institute does not have any financial guarantees.
(J) FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Batchelor Institute classifies fair value measurements using a fair
value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in
making the measurements.
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The fair value of assets or liabilities traded in active markets (such
as publicly traded derivatives, and equity investments) is based on
quoted market prices for identical assets or liabilities at the end of the
reporting period (level 1). The quoted market price used for assets held
by Batchelor Institute is the most representative of fair value in the
circumstances within the bid-ask spread.
The fair value of assets or liabilities that are not traded in an active
market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using
valuation techniques. Batchelor Institute uses a variety of methods
and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing
at each balance date. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar
instruments (level 2) are used for long-term debt instruments held.
Other techniques that are not based on observable market data (level
3), such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine
fair value for the remaining assets and liabilities. The fair value of
interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated
future cash flows. The fair value of forward exchange contracts is
determined using forward exchange market rates at the end of the
reporting period. The level in the fair value hierarchy is determined on
the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement in its entirety.
Fair value measurement of non-financial assets is based on the
highest and best use of the asset. Batchelor Institute considers market
participants use of, or purchase of, the asset to use it in a manner that
would be highest and best use.
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and
payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their
short-term nature. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure
purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash
flows at the current market interest rate that is available to Batchelor
Institute for similar financial instruments.
(K) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land and buildings are shown at fair value, based on periodic,
but at least quinquennial valuations by independent valuers, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation for buildings. Any accumulated
depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross
carrying amount of the asset and the carrying amount is adjusted
to the revalued amount of the asset. All other property, plant and
equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to Batchelor Institute and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income
statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.
Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation of land
and buildings are recognised, net of tax, in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of revaluation
reserve. To the extent that the increase reverses a decrease previously
recognised in profit or loss, the increase is first recognised in profit and
loss. Decreases that reverse previous increases of the same asset class
are also recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent of the
remaining reserve attributable to the asset class. All other decreases
are charged to the income statement.

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(K) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
Batchelor Institute controls building assets that are situated on land
where the legal title is held by entities other than Batchelor Institute.
Certain building assets that are situated in Batchelor township, but
which do not form part of the main Batchelor Institute campus, are
located on Crown land that is controlled by the Northern Territory
of Australia. All remote building assets are situated on land that is
owned by entities other than Batchelor Institute.
Initial expenditure for buildings under construction are capitalised as
incurred and depreciation commences once the building is complete
and ready for use.

(iii) Amortisation of intangibles
Preliminary expenses in respect of the development of computer
software are capitalised as they are incurred but amortisation does not
commence until the software development is completed and ready for
use. The following estimated useful life was used in the calculation of
amortised intangibles for the current and prior year:
Computer software

1.5 - 3 years

(L) TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided
to Batchelor Institute prior to the end of the financial year, which are
unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30
days of recognition.
(M) PROVISIONS

(i) Valuations
Batchelor Institute revalue Land, buildings and Infrastructure and
Artwork collections once every five years by an external independent
valuer. In addition to the external valuation every five years, the
artwork collections are subject to periodic review by electronic means.

Provisions are recognised when Batchelor Institute has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the
amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.

Land, buildings and infrastructure were revalued in September 2017
with values reflected as at 31 December 2017. The revaluation resulted
in an increase of $1.9 million to buildings; decrease of $0.04 million
to infrastructure assets; and a decrease of $0.3 million to land value.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Land, building and infrastructure assets have been measured using
the fair value methodology. As there is no current active and liquid
market for facilities of this type, and it is Batchelor Institute’s intention
to retain these assets in their current usage, fair value has been
measured at depreciated replacement cost.
(ii) Depreciation
Land and cultural assets are not depreciated. Depreciation on other
assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual values, over their
estimated useful lives, as follows for the current and prior year:
Buildings including
demountables and
improvements

7-50 years

Infrastructure

10-40 years

Plant and equipment

5-20 years

Computer hardware

5 years

Transport equipment

5-10 years

Library books

5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine
the present value reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.
(N) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
(i) Short-term obligations
Liabilities for short-term employee benefits including wages and
salaries and non-monetary benefits are measured at the amount
expected to be paid when the liability is settled, if it is expected to be
settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the reporting period
and is recognised in other payables. Liabilities for non-accumulating
sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and measured at the
rates paid or payable.
(ii) Annual leave
The liability for long-term employee benefits such as annual leave is
recognised in current provisions for employee benefits if it is due to
be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period. It
is measured at the amount expected to be paid when the liability is
settled. Regardless of the expected timing of settlements, provisions
made in respect of employee benefits are classified as a current
liability, unless there is an unconditional right to defer the settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date, in which
case it would be classified as a non-current liability.
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(N) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)
(iii) Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for
employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected
future payments to be made in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit
method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary
levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service.
Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the
reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity
and currently that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future
cash outflows.
(iv) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated
before the normal retirement date, or when an employee accepts
an offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment.
Batchelor Institute recognises the expense and liability for termination
benefits either when it can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits or when it has recognised costs for restructuring within the
scope of AASB137 that involves the payment of termination benefits.
The expense and liability are recognised when Batchelor Institute
is demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment
of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without
possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result
of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.
Termination benefits are measured on initial recognition and
subsequent changes are measured and recognised in accordance with
the nature of the employee benefit. Benefits expected to be settled
wholly within 12 months are measured at the undiscounted amount
expected to be paid. Benefits not expected to be settled before 12
months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to present
value.
(O) SUPERANNUATION
Batchelor Institute contributes to several superannuation schemes,
including the Northern Territory Government and Public Authorities
Superannuation Scheme (NTGPASS), the Commonwealth
Superannuation Scheme (CSS) and various private sector schemes.
Casual employee’s superannuation benefits are provided for through
approved contribution schemes.
Until 30 June 1999 benefits from NTGPASS were supplemented
by an additional productivity benefit from the Northern Territory
Supplementary Superannuation Scheme (NTSSS). The NTSSS
benefit was entirely employer funded and did not require employee
contributions. It was provided to all employees whom completed
at least three months service. NTGPASS closed to new employees
commencing service with the Northern Territory Government after
9 August 1999. The NTGPASS, NTSSS and the defined contribution
scheme provide lump sum benefits while the CSS provides a
mixture of lump sum and pension benefits. In respect of the entity’s
superannuation plans, any contributions made to the superannuation
plans by the entity are recognised against profits when due.
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Employee contributions in respect of NTGPASS members are based on
an elected rate of 2% to 6% of salary. CSS members must contribute
5% of salary and may elect to contribute up to an additional 5%
of salary as supplementary contributions. Contributions to other
approved contribution schemes are made at a rate of 9.75% of the
employee’s salary. Until 30 June 1999 the cost of employer financed
benefits was met by the Northern Territory Government. Batchelor
Institute was under no legal obligation to make up any shortfall
in relation to payouts to employees or contributions on behalf of
employees. Since 1 July 1999 Batchelor Institute has received funding
directly from the Northern Territory and Commonwealth Governments
to fund superannuation contributions to approved funds.
(P) ROUNDING
Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts are shown rounded to the
nearest thousand dollars.
(Q) GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of
associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable from the
taxation authority. In this case, it is recognised as part of the cost
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST
receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or
payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables
or payables in the statement of financial position. Cash flows are
presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising
from investing or financing activities which are recoverable from, or
payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash
flows.
(R) COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS
Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified to enhance
comparability in respect of changes in presentation adopted in the
current financial year.
(S) SERVICES RECEIVED FREE OF CHARGE
Batchelor Institute receives various human resources, payroll and
financial services from the Northern Territory Government at no charge
(Note 14). This general purpose financial report has been prepared
on a going concern basis in the expectation that these services and
support will continue.
(T) NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been
published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2018 reporting
periods. Batchelor Institute has elected not to early adopt any of the
standards. Batchelor Institute is assessing the potential impact on its
financial statements resulting from the application of the following
new standards and interpretations:

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(T) NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (CONTINUED)

Standard/ Interpretation

AASB 16 Leases is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
and will be reported in these financial statements for the first time in 2019.

Effective for annual
reporting periods
beginning on or
after

Expected to be
initially applied in
the financial year
ending

1 January 2019

31 December 2019

1 January 2019

31 December 2019

When the standard is effective it will supersede AASB 117 Leases and requires the majority of
leases to be recognised on the balance sheet.
For lessees with operating leases, a right-of-use asset will now come onto the balance sheet
together with a lease liability for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the
underlying assets are of low value.
The Income Statement will no longer report operating lease rental payments, instead a
depreciation expense will be recognised relating to the right-to-use asset and interest expense
relating to the lease liability.
While for lessors, the finance and operating lease distinction remains largely unchanged. For
finance leases, the lessor recognises a receivable equal to the net investment in the lease.
Lease receipts from operating leases are recognised as income either on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis where appropriate.
AASB 1058 Income for Not-for-Profit Entities and AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 and
will be reported in these financial statements for the first time in 2019.
Under the new AASB 1058, revenue from grants and donations will be recognised when
any associated performance obligation to provide goods or services is satisfied, and not
immediately upon receipt as currently occurs. Consequently, more liabilities will be recognised
in the balance sheet after adoption of this standard.
AASB 1058 clarifies and simplifies income-recognition requirements that apply to not-forprofit entities in conjunction with AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
While the full impacts are yet to be determined, potential impacts identified include:
[[

[[

[[

[[

Grants received to construct or acquire a non-financial asset will be recognised as a liability,
and subsequently recognised as revenue as the performance obligations under the grant
are satisfied. At present, such grants are recognised as revenue on receipt.
Grants with an enforceable agreement and sufficiently specific performance obligations
will be recognised as revenue progressively as the associated performance obligations are
satisfied. At present, such grants are recognised as revenue on receipt.
Grants that have an enforceable agreement but no specific performance obligations but
have restrictions on the timing of expenditure will also continue to be recognised on receipt
as time restriction on the use of funds is not sufficiently specific to create a performance
obligation.
Grants that are not enforceable and/or not sufficiently specific will not qualify for deferral
and continue to be recognised as revenue as soon as they are controlled.

(U) INITIAL APPLICATION OF AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARD AND INTERPRETATIONS
Adoption of AASB 9 and Interpretation 22 is made in accordance with the transitional provisions. The nature and effect of the changes as a
result of adoption of this new accounting standard and interpretations are described below.
AASB 9 Financial Instruments
AASB 9 Financial Instruments replaces AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018, bringing together all three aspects of the accounting for financial instruments: classification and measurement; impairment;
and hedge accounting.
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(U) INITIAL APPLICATION OF AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARD AND INTERPRETATIONS (CONTINUED)
AASB 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
Batchelor Institute has applied AASB 9 retrospectively with an initial application date of 1 January 2018. Batchelor Institute has not restated
the comparative information, which continues to be reported under AASB 139. Differences arising from the adoption of AASB 9 have been
recognised directly in retained earnings and other components of equity.
The nature and effect of the changes as a result of adoption of AASB 9 are described as follows:
Ref adjustments

1 January 2018
$’000

(i)

(428)

(i), (ii)

428

Assets
Trade receivables
Adjustments on equity
Retained earnings

The nature of these adjustments are described below:
(i) Classification and measurement
Under AASB 9, debt instruments are subsequently measured at amortised cost. The classification is based on two criteria: Batchelor Institute’s
business model for managing the assets; and whether the instruments’ contractual cash flows represent ‘solely payments of principal and
interest’ on the principal amount outstanding.
The assessment of Batchelor Institute’s business model was made as of the date of initial application, 1 January 2018. The assessment of whether
contractual cash flows on debt instruments are solely comprised of principal and interest was made based on the facts and circumstances as
at the initial recognition of the assets.
The classification and measurement requirements of AASB 9 did not have a significant impact to Batchelor Institute.
The following are the changes in the classification of the Batchelor Institute’s financial assets:
Trade receivables as at 31 December 2017 are held to collect contractual cash flows and give rise to cash flows representing solely payments of
principal and interest. These are classified and measured as debt instruments at amortised cost beginning 1 January 2018.
Batchelor Institute has not designated any financial liabilities as at fair value through profit or loss. There are no changes in classification and
measurement for Batchelor Institute’s financial liabilities.
In summary, upon the adoption of AASB 9, Batchelor Institute had the following required or elected reclassifications as at 1 January 2018.
AASB 9 measurement category

$’000

Fair value through
profit or loss
$’000

Amortised cost
$’000

Fair value through OCI
$’000

1,735

-

1,618

-

399

-

88

-

2,134

-

1,706

-

AASB 139 measurement category
Trade receivables *
Student fees *

* The change in carrying amount is a result of additional impairment allowance. See the discussion on impairment below.

(ii) Impairment
The adoption of AASB 9 has fundamentally changed Batchelor Institute’s accounting for impairment losses for financial assets by replacing
AASB 139’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) approach.
AASB 9 requires Batchelor Institute to recognise an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss and
contract assets.
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(U) INITIAL APPLICATION OF AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARD AND INTERPRETATIONS (CONTINUED)
AASB 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
(ii) Impairment (continued)
Upon adoption of AASB 9 Batchelor Institute recognised additional impairment on Batchelor Institute’s Trade receivables which resulted in a
decrease in retained earnings of $428,000 as at 1 January 2018.
Set out below is the reconciliation of the ending impairment allowances in accordance with AASB 139 to the opening loss allowances determined
in accordance with AASB 9:
Allowance for impairment
under AASB 139 as at
31 December 2017
$’000
Loans and receivables under AASB139 / Financial
assets at amortised cost under AASB9

Remeasurement
$’000

ECL under AASB 9 as at
1 January 2018
$’000

271

428

699

271

428

699
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Note

Higher
Education

VET

Total
Economic
Entity

Higher
Education

VET

Total
Economic
Entity

2018

2018

2018

2017

2017

2017

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

NOTE 2: DISAGGREGATED INFORMATION
(A) INDUSTRY - DUAL SECTOR PROVIDERS (ECONOMIC ENTITY)
Operating revenues and expenses for Higher Education and Vocational Education and Training (VET) are shown in the following tables.
Historically, these have been determined by identifying specific revenues and expenses for each sector and apportioning the remainder
relative to direct costs of course delivery. Previously, the National Institute funding was recognised as Higher Education Grant
however Batchelor Institute is of opinion that the purpose of this funding is for both VET and Higher Education sectors and should be
apportioned based on the direct costs of course delivery. The comparative figures have been adjusted to reflect the current methodology.
As per the current methodology, operating revenues and expenses for Higher Education and VET are apportioned to direct cost of course
delivery (Higher Education 23% : VET 77%).

INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
Income from continuing operations

Restated

Restated

Restated

Australian Government financial assistance

3

3,134

10,490

13,624

3,546

13,341

16,887

NT Government financial assistance

4

2,691

9,011

11,702

3,526

13,265

16,791

Fees and charges

5

149

498

647

236

887

1,123

Investment revenue

6

43

146

189

24

91

115

Consultancy and contracts

7

1,268

4,244

5,512

1,116

4,196

5,312

Goods and services received free of charge *

14

141

474

615

154

577

731

Other revenue

8

122

409

531

108

406

514

7,548

25,272

32,820

8,710

32,763

41,473

Total income from continuing operations
Expenses from continuing operations
Employee related expenses

9

4,896

16,393

21,289

5,498

20,684

26,182

Depreciation and amortisation

10

384

1,285

1,669

370

1,391

1,761

Repairs and maintenance

11

60

203

263

59

223

282

Impairment of assets

12

57

192

249

-

1

1

Goods and services received free of charge *

14

142

473

615

154

577

731

Other expenses

13

2,294

7,679

9,973

2,672

10,053

12,725

Total expenses from continuing operations

7,833

26,225

34,058

8,753

32,929

41,682

Net result for the year

(285)

(953)

(1,238)

(43)

(166)

(209)

* Goods and Services received free of charge have been disclosed separately and comparative figures have been restated accordingly.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
Net result for the year

Restated

Restated

(285)

(953)

(1,238)

(43)

(166)

(209)

Gain on revaluation of buildings

-

-

-

393

1,480

1,873

Loss on revaluation of Infrastructure

-

-

-

(9)

(32)

(41)

Loss on revaluation of land

-

-

-

(60)

(227)

(287)

Loss on revaluation of cultural and heritage
assets

-

-

-

(240)

(902)

(1,142)

(285)

(953)

(1,238)

41

153

194

Total comprehensive income
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Note

Higher
Education

VET

Total
Economic
Entity

2018

2018

2018

$’000

$’000

$’000

Higher
Education

VET

Total
Economic
Entity

2017

2017

2017

$’000

$’000

$’000

Restated

Restated

NOTE 2: DISAGGREGATED INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(A) INDUSTRY - DUAL SECTOR PROVIDERS (ECONOMIC ENTITY) (CONTINUED)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

15

2,246

7,820

10,066

726

2,731

3,457

Receivables

16

88

847

935

1,338

5,032

6,370

Other assets

17

113

431

544

130

488

618

2,447

9,098

11,545

2,194

8,251

10,445

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

18

6,553

24,773

31,326

6,835

25,715

32,550

Intangible assets

19

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total non-current assets

6,553

24,773

31,326

6,835

25,715

32,550

Total assets

9,000

33,871

42,871

9,029

33,966

42,995

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

20

388

1,408

1,796

261

983

1,244

Provisions

21

717

2,743

3,460

829

3,117

3,946

Other liabilities

22

808

2,893

3,701

453

1,705

2,158

1,913

7,044

8,957

1,543

5,805

7,348

55

212

267

70

264

334

55

212

267

70

264

334

Total liabilities

1,968

7,256

9,224

1,613

6,069

7,682

Net assets

7,032

26,615

33,647

7,416

27,897

35,313

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions

21

Total non-current liabilities

Equity
Reserves

23 (a)

6,455

24,286

30,741

6,455

24,286

30,741

Retained surplus

23 (b)

577

2,329

2,906

961

3,611

4,572

7,032

26,615

33,647

7,416

27,897

35,313

Total equity
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Note

Higher Education

VET

Reserves

Retained
Surplus

Total

Reserves

Retained
Surplus

Total

Total
Economic
Entity

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

NOTE 2: DISAGGREGATED INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(A) INDUSTRY - DUAL SECTOR PROVIDERS (ECONOMIC ENTITY) (CONTINUED)

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
Balance at 1 January 2018

6,455

961

7,416

24,286

3,611

27,897

35,313

Adoption of AASB 9 adjustment

-

(99)

(99)

-

(329)

(329)

(428)

Net result

-

(285)

(285)

-

(953)

(953)

(1,238)

6,455

577

7,032

24,286

2,329

26,615

33,647

6,371

1,004

7,375

23,967

3,777

27,744

35,119

-

(43)

(43)

-

(166)

(166)

(209)

393

-

393

1,480

-

1,480

1,873

(9)

-

(9)

(32)

-

(32)

(41)

(60)

-

(60)

(227)

-

(227)

(287)

(240)

-

(240)

(902)

-

(902)

(1,142)

6,455

961

7,416

24,286

3,611

27,897

35,313

Note

Higher
Education

VET

Total
Economic
Entity

Higher
Education

VET

Total
Economic
Entity

2018

2018

2018

2017

2017

2017

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Balance at 31 December 2018

23

Balance at 1 January 2017
Net result
Gain on revaluation of buildings
Loss on revaluation of
Infrastructure
Loss on revaluation of land
Loss on revaluation of cultural and
heritage assets
Balance at 31 December 2017

23

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Restated

Restated

3,879

12,987

16,866

3,249

12,221

15,470

3,329

11,143

14,472

3,491

13,134

16,625

1,619

5,420

7,039

1,519

5,714

7,233

43

146

189

27

100

127

(7,271)

(24,342)

(31,613)

(8,543)

(32,137)

(40,680)

23

75

98

(5)

(19)

(24)

1,622

5,429

7,051

(262)

(987)

(1,249)

(102)

(340)

(442)

(133)

(501)

(634)

Net cash / (used in) investing activities

(102)

(340)

(442)

(133)

(501)

(634)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents

1,520

5,089

6,609

(395)

(1,488)

(1,883)

726

2,731

3,457

1,121

4,219

5,340

2,246

7,820

10,066

726

2,731

3,457

Australian Government Grants

3

NT Government Grants
Receipts from student fees and other customers
Interest received

6

Payments to suppliers and employees
GST recovered / (paid)
Net cash provided by / (used in) operating
activities

30

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of
the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
financial year
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15

Note

Economic Entity
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

NOTE 3: AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE INCLUDING HECS-HELP AND
OTHER AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT LOAN PROGRAMS
Restated

(A) COMMONWEALTH GRANT SCHEME AND OTHER GRANTS

33.1

National Institutes

7,362

7,253

214

201

17

50

7,593

7,504

-

1

-

1

Research Training Program

148

185

Research Support Program

140

144

Total education research grants

288

329

4,404

7,191

1,158

1,385

126

379

55

98

5,743

9,053

13,624

16,887

13,624

16,887

13,624

16,887

7,362

7,504

288

329

9,216

7,838

Total Australian Government grants received - cash basis

16,866

15,671

Total Australian Government funding received - cash basis

16,866

15,671

Indigenous Student Success Program*
Promotion of Excellence in Learning and Teaching in HE**
Total Commonwealth Grant Scheme and other grants

(B) HIGHER EDUCATION LOAN PROGRAMS

33.2

VET Fee-Help
Total Higher Education Loan Programs

(D) EDUCATION RESEARCH GRANTS

33.3

(E) OTHER AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE
Indigenous Education Agreement - Away From Base
Office of the Arts Indigenous Broadcasting and Languages Projects
Childcare support
Other project funding
Total other Australian Government financial assistance
Total Australian Government financial assistance
Reconciliation
Australian Government grants (a+b+c+d+e)
Total Australian Government financial assistance

(F) AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT GRANTS RECEIVED - CASH BASIS
Commonwealth Grants Scheme and Other Education Grants
Education Research
Other Australian Government grants

* Indigenous Student Success Program replaced the Indigenous Commonwealth Scholarships Program and the Indigenous Support program as of 1 January 2017.
** 2017 revenue was disclosed under Joint Research Engagement Program
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Note

Economic Entity
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

General Purpose

8,699

11,282

Total General Purpose

8,699

11,282

564

806

Indigenous Tutorial Assistance Scheme (VET)

127

182

Capital Works

376

523

Vocational Education and Training Equipment Grant

141

253

36

299

-

1,545

1,726

1,831

-

109

33

(39)

Total Specific Purpose

3,003

5,509

Total Northern Territory Government financial assistance

11,702

16,791

NOTE 4: NORTHERN TERRITORY GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE
General Purpose

Specific Purpose
Department of Trade, Business and Innovation
Supplementary Recurrent Assistance

Department of Education
Vocational Education and Training in Schools
Training for Assistant Teachers in Remote Schools
Department of Attorney-General and Justice
Department of Housing and Community Development
Other Revenue

NOTE 5: FEES AND CHARGES
Restated

Course fees and charges
Other domestic course fees and charges 2

282

521

282

521

Rental charges

135

101

Facility hire

155

263

75

238

Total other fees and charges

365

602

Total fees and charges

647

1,123

Total fees and charges
Other non-course fees and charges

Other

2

Includes white card training, first aid training and short courses. Revenue received from the Department of Defence previously disclosed as Course fees and charges
have now been disclosed as Consultancy fees, refer Note 7, Consultancy and Contracts. Comparatives have been restated to match current year disclosure.
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Note

Economic Entity
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

189

115

189

115

NOTE 6: INVESTMENT REVENUE
Interest
Total investment revenue

NOTE 7: CONSULTANCY AND CONTRACTS
Restated
Consultancy 3
ACIKE - Charles Darwin University

4

Other contract revenue
Total consultancy and contracts

3,706

3,542

1,806

1,769

-

1

5,512

5,312

Revenue received from the Department of Defence previously disclosed as Course fees and charges have now been disclosed as Consultancy fees, refer Note 5, Fees
and Charges. Comparatives have been restated to match current year disclosure.
4
Includes the basic CGS grant amount and CGS - Regional Loading, HECS.
3

NOTE 8: OTHER REVENUE
Donations and bequests

77

303

Scholarships and prizes

2

3

Non-government grants

72

51

Merchandise and meal sales

179

85

Insurance rebates and other revenue

198

72

3

-

531

514

Sale of assets
Total other revenue
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Note

Economic Entity
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

7,702

9,892

Contributions to superannuation and pension schemes

722

1,126

Payroll tax

485

703

53

1

Long service leave

182

256

Annual leave

898

1,300

8

26

10,050

13,304

8,694

9,575

Contributions to superannuation and pension schemes

830

1,090

Payroll tax

541

680

Worker’s compensation

(33)

1

181

248

1,017

1,259

9

25

Total non-academic

11,239

12,878

Total employee related expenses

21,289

26,182

1,396

1,517

109

81

Plant and equipment

84

86

Computer hardware

58

58

Transport equipment

22

19

1,669

1,761

Intangible assets

-

-

Total amortisation

-

-

1,669

1,761

263

282

263

282

NOTE 9: EMPLOYEE RELATED EXPENSES
Employee related expenses
Academic
Salaries

Worker’s compensation

Other
Total academic
Non-academic
Salaries

Long service leave
Annual leave
Other

NOTE 10: DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION
Depreciation
Buildings
Infrastructure

Total depreciation
Amortisation

Total depreciation and amortisation

NOTE 11: REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE
Repairs and maintenance on buildings
Total repairs and maintenance
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Note

Economic Entity
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

Bad and doubtful debts

249

1

Total impairment of assets

249

1

NOTE 12: IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

NOTE 13: OTHER EXPENSES
*Restated
Advertising, marketing and promotional expenses

83

220

2,503

2,511

716

877

1,223

1,867

Insurance

520

482

Motor vehicles

773

1,073

Non-capitalised equipment

315

681

1,051

1,530

Recruitment

86

88

Rent and leasing

311

313

Scholarships, grants and prizes

102

97

Training and study

100

64

Travel

1,702

2,278

Other

488

644

9,973

12,725

Communications and utilities
Consumables
Contracted services

Property management

Total other expenses
*The classification of expenses in the categories above has been reviewed in 2018 and comparative disclosure has been restated accordingly.

NOTE 14: SERVICES RECEIVED FREE OF CHARGE
Batchelor Institute receives various human resources, payroll and financial services from the Northern Territory Government free of charge.
Services received free of charge

615

731

Total services received free of charge

615

731
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Note

Economic Entity
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

10,066

3,457

-

-

10,066

3,457

10,066

3,457

10,066

3,457

NOTE 15: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank and on hand
Deposits at call
Total cash and cash equivalents

(A) RECONCILIATION TO CASH AT THE END OF THE YEAR
The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the year as shown in the statement of cash flows as follows:
Balances as above
Balance per statement of cash flows

(B) CASH AT BANK AND ON HAND
Cash on hand is non-interest bearing. Cash at bank earns floating interest rates and had an effective interest rate of 1.5% (2017: 1.5%).
(C) DEPOSITS AT CALL
Batchelor Institute did not have any deposits on call as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2018. In 2017 deposits were bearing floating
interest rates between 1.88% and 2.55%. The deposits had a maturity of 30 days.

NOTE 16: RECEIVABLES
Current
Trade receivables

257

1,737

Less: provision for impaired receivables

(33)

(2)

224

1,735

Student fees

-

668

Less: provision for impaired receivables

-

(269)

-

399

Accrued revenue

737

4,164

GST (payable) / receivable

(26)

72

935

6,370

Total current receivables

As of 31 December 2018, current receivables of $158,927 (2017: $521,857) were past due but not impaired. These receivables relate to a number of
independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these receivables is as follows:
Less than 3 months

44

69

3 to 6 months

16

35

6 to 12 months

42

305

Over 12 months

57

113

159

522

Total past due but not impaired current receivables
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Note

Economic Entity
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

NOTE 16: RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
(A) IMPAIRED RECEIVABLES
As at 31 December 2018 current receivables with a nominal value of $33,299 (2017: $271,203) were impaired. The amount of the provision was
$33,299 (2017: $271,203). The individually impaired receivables mainly relate to third party student fees, recoveries of expenses and debts of
past staff of Batchelor Institute. The ageing of the provision of these receivables is as follows:
Less than 3 months

-

-

3 to 6 months

-

-

6 to 12 months

14

-

Over 12 months

19

271

33

271

271

272

428

-

31

(1)

(697)

-

-

-

33

271

Total current impaired receivables
Movements in the provision for impaired receivables are as follows:
At 1 January
AASB 9 Transition adjustment
Provision for expected credit losses
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible
Unused amount reversed
At 31 December

The creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables has been included in ‘impairment of assets’ expense in the income statement.
Amounts charged to the provision account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.
The other amounts within receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. Based on credit history, it is expected that these
amounts will be received when due.

NOTE 17: OTHER ASSETS
Salary Advances

20

(4)

Prepayments

524

622

Total other assets

544

618
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Note

Economic Entity
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

985

985

985

985

59,085

59,077

(31,602)

(30,206)

27,483

28,871

At fair value

1,666

1,666

Less: accumulated depreciation

(593)

(484)

1,073

1,182

At cost

1,301

1,294

Less: accumulated depreciation

(850)

(765)

451

529

886

887

(787)

(730)

99

157

722

677

(621)

(599)

101

78

752

748

752

748

At cost

6

-

Less: accumulated depreciation

-

-

6

-

376

-

376

-

31,326

32,550

NOTE 18: PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land
At fair value
Total land
Buildings
At fair value
Less: accumulated depreciation
Total buildings
Infrastructure

Total infrastructure
Plant and equipment

Total plant and equipment
Computer hardware
At cost
Less: accumulated depreciation
Total computer hardware
Transport equipment
At cost
Less: accumulated depreciation
Total transport equipment
Heritage and cultural assets
At fair value
Total heritage and cultural assets
Library Books

Total Library Books
Work in progress
At cost
Total work in progress
Total property, plant and equipment
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$’000

$’000

Buildings

$’000

Infrastructure

$’000

5

-

-

Depreciation expense

Revaluation increment/
(decrement)

985

-

985

-

Plant and equipment includes all operational assets.

Net book amount

Accumulated depreciation

Valuation

Cost

At 31 December 2018

985

-

Asset disposals

Closing net book amount

-

985

985

-

985

-

Additions

Opening net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2018

Net book amount

Accumulated depreciation

Valuation

Cost

At 1 January 2018

27,483

(31,602)

59,077

8

27,483

-

(1,396)

-

8

28,871

28,871

(30,206)

59,077

-

1,073

(593)

1,666

-

1,073

-

(109)

-

-

1,182

1,182

(484)

1,666

-

451

(850)

-

1,301

451

-

(85)

-

7

529

529

(765)

-

1,294

NOTE 18: PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Economic entity

Land

Plant and
equipment 5

99

(787)

-

886

99

-

(57)

(1)

-

157

157

(730)

-

887

$’000

Computer
hardware

101

(621)

-

722

101

-

(22)

-

45

78

78

(599)

-

677

$’000

Transport
equipment

752

-

748

4

752

-

-

-

4

748

748

-

748

-

$’000

Heritage and
cultural assets

6

-

-

6

6

-

-

-

6

-

-

-

-

-

$’000

376

-

-

376

376

-

-

-

376

-

-

-

-

-

$’000

Construction in
Library Books
progress

31,326

(34,453)

62,476

3,303

31,326

-

(1,669)

(1)

446

32,550

32,550

(32,784)

62,476

2,858

$’000

Total property, plant and
equipment
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$’000

$’000

Buildings

$’000

Infrastructure

$’000

Plant and
equipment 6

Plant and equipment includes all operational assets.

985

-

985

-

28,871

(30,206)

59,077

-

28,871

1,873

(1,516)

-

201

28,313

28,313

(5,520)

29,934

3,899

1,182

(484)

1,666

-

1,182

(41)

(81)

-

554

750

750

(176)

816

110

529

(765)

-

1,294

529

-

(86)

-

114

501

501

(679)

-

1,180

157

(730)

-

887

157

-

(59)

-

2

214

214

(671)

-

885

$’000

Computer
hardware

78

(599)

-

677

78

-

(19)

-

66

31

31

(580)

-

611

$’000

Transport
equipment*

748

-

748

-

748

(1,142)

-

-

-

1,890

1,890

-

1,890

-

$’000

Heritage and
cultural assets

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

$’000

Library Books

* The Transport equipment cost and accumulated depreciation have been restated to agree to the asset register as some previously disposed assets had not been reflected in the disclosure.

6

Net book amount

Accumulated depreciation

Valuation

Cost

At 31 December 2017

985

Closing net book amount

-

Depreciation expense

(287)

-

Asset disposals

Revaluation decrement

-

1,272

1,272

-

1,272

-

Additions

Opening net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2017

Net book amount

Accumulated depreciation

Valuation

Cost

At 1 January 2017

NOTE 18: PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Economic entity

Land

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(303)

303

303

-

-

303

$’000

Construction in
progress

32,550

(32,784)

62,476

2,858

32,550

403

(1,761)

-

634

33,274

33,274

(7,764)

33,912

7,126

$’000

Total property,
plant and
equipment

Note

Economic Entity
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

201

201

(201)

(201)

-

-

201

201

(201)

(201)

-

-

1,565

1,043

231

201

1,796

1,244

1,224

1,359

5

2

161

229

Long service leave

673

675

Other provisions

238

602

2,301

2,867

1,159

1,079

1,159

1,079

3,460

3,946

267

334

267

334

3,727

4,280

NOTE 19: INTANGIBLE ASSETS
At 1 January
Cost
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Net book amount
At 31 December
Cost
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Net book amount

NOTE 20: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Current
Trade creditors
Accrued expenses
Total current trade and other payables

NOTE 21: PROVISIONS
Current provisions expected to be settled within 12 months
Annual leave
Annual leave fares
Annual leave loading
7

Total current provisions to be settled within 12 months
Current provisions expected to be settled after more than 12 months
Long service leave
Total current provisions to be settled after more than 12 months
Total current provisions
Non-current provisions
Long service leave
Total non-current provisions
Total provisions
7

Other provisions include fringe benefits tax, payroll tax, superannuation, and worker’s compensation provisions amount.
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NOTE 21: PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)
(A) MOVEMENTS IN PROVISIONS
As at 31 December 2018
Movements in each class of provision during the financial year are set out below:
Annual
leave

Annual
leave fares

Annual
leave
loading

Long
service
leave

Other

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

1,359

2

229

1,754

602

3,946

1,717

3

198

363

59

2,340

-

-

-

185

-

185

(1,852)

-

(266)

(470)

(423)

(3,011)

1,224

5

161

1,832

238

3,460

Long service
leave

Total

$’000

$’000

334

334

118

118

(185)

(185)

267

267

Current
Carrying amount at 1 January 2018
Additional provisions recognised
Transfer from non-current provisions
Amounts used
Carrying amount at 31 December 2018

Non-current
Carrying amount at 1 January 2018
Additional provisions recognised
Transfer to current provisions
Non-current amount at 31 December 2018

As at 31 December 2017
Movements in each class of provision during the financial year are set out below:
Annual
leave

Annual
leave fares

Annual
leave
loading

Long
service
leave

Other

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Carrying amount at 1 January 2017

1,533

2

258

1,161

632

3,586

Additional provisions recognised

2,274

-

250

1,038

489

4,051

(2,448)

-

(279)

(445)

(519)

(3,691)

1,359

2

229

1,754

602

3,946

Long service
leave

Total

$’000

$’000

917

917

(583)

(583)

334

334

Current

Amounts used
Carrying amount at 31 December 2017

Non-current
Carrying amount at 1 January 2017
Amounts used
Non-current amount at 31 December 2017
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Note

Economic Entity
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

NOTE 22: OTHER LIABILITIES
Current
Australian Government unspent financial assistance*

*Restated
644

1,038

Unearned grant revenue

3,057

1,120

Total current other liabilities

3,701

2,158

* As per the requirements of the Financial Statement Guidelines for Australian Higher Education Providers for the 2018, the Australian Government unspent financial
assistance balance has been disclosed separately. The comparatives have been restated to match current year disclosure.

NOTE 23: RESERVES AND RETAINED SURPLUS
(A) RESERVES
Property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus

15,124

15,124

Gifted asset reserve

15,617

15,617

30,741

30,741

15,124

14,721

Gain on revalaution of buildings

-

1,873

Loss on revaluation of Infrastructure

-

(41)

Loss on revaluation of land

-

(287)

Loss on revaluation of cultural and heritage assets

-

(1,142)

15,124

15,124

Balance at 1 January

15,617

15,617

Balance at 31 December

15,617

15,617

Retained surplus at 1 January

4,572

4,781

Adoption of AASB 9 adjustment

(428)

-

Operating result for the period

(1,238)

(209)

Retained surplus at 31 December

2,906

4,572

33,647

35,313

Total reserves
Property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus
Balance at 1 January

Balance at 31 December
Gifted asset reserve

(B) RETAINED SURPLUS
Movements in retained surplus were as follows:

Total Reserves and Retained surplus

(C) NATURE AND PURPOSE OF RESERVES
					
Property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus						
The property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus arises from the revaluation of non-current assets. Where a revalued asset is sold, the
portion of the revaluation reserve which relates to that asset is transferred to retained earnings.
Gifted asset reserve
During the year ended 31 December 2002, the Northern Territory Government gifted to Batchelor Institute certain land and buildings which
it occupied. The fair values of these land and buildings were determined on the basis of valuations performed by the Valuer-General as at
1 July 2002. The valuation was determined on the basis of fair value for land amounting to $290,000 and depreciated replacement cost
for buildings of $15,109,000 making a total of $15,399,000. These values were recognised in the financial statements during 2002 via the
gifted asset revaluation. These and other assets have been revalued in accordance with Batchelor Institute’s revaluation policy as described in
Note 1 (k)(i).
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NOTE 24: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES
(A) NAMES OF RESPONSIBLE PERSONS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
The following persons were responsible persons and executive officers of Batchelor Institute during the financial year:

Council Members
Professor Markham Rose (Chairperson)

Chairperson (term of office was completed on 12 December 2018)

Professor Boni Robertson

Deputy Chair (appointed as interim Deputy Chair 12 December 2018 to 4 February 2019)

Ms Vicki Baylis

Member (commenced 01 February 2018)

Professor Steve Larkin

Member (commenced 26 March 2018)

Mr Peter McCaffrey

Member (resigned on 23 February 2018)

Ms Louise Dyer

Member (resigned on 22 May 2018)

Professor Adrian Miller

Member (resigned on 31 May 2018)

Dr Gary Thomas

Member (term of office was completed on 30 March 2018)

Mr Heath Baxter

Member (term of office was completed on 18 August 2018)

Mr Lawrence Webster

Member (term of office was completed on 18 August 2018)

(B) OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling activities of Batchelor Institute during the
financial year:

72

Professor Steve Larkin

Chief Executive Officer (commenced 26 March 2018)

Dr Peter Stephenson

Deputy Chief Executive Officer Higher Education and Research

Ms Wendy Ludwig

Deputy Chief Executive Officer VET (commenced on 01 October 2018)

Dr Sue Stanton

Executive Advisor Academic & Cultural Leadership

Ms Leah Atkinson

Chief Financial Officer (24 May 2018 to 30 September 2018)
Chief Operating Officer (commenced on 01 October 2018)

Dr Gary Thomas

Acting Chief executive Officer (02 November 2017 to 30 March 2018)

Ms Naomi Bonson

Executive Director Strategic and Shared Services (01 June 2015 to 31 May 2018)

Dr Jurg Bronnimann

Head of School, Higher Education and Research (12 September 2011 to 17 July 2018)

Ms Eike Pakeha

Director Performance Monitoring and Review (01 January 2016 to 17 July 2018)

Dr Jillian Marsh

Director Graduate School (18 October 2016 to 04 January 2018)

Ms Evelyn Schaber

Director Arts & Humanities (01 July 2017 to 17 July 2018)

Ms Debbie Barnes

Manager Human Resources and Work Health and Safety (19 October 2017 to 17 July 2018)

Dr Stephen Hagan

Senior Director Alliance Management (01 July 2017 to 06 July 2018)

Mr Rowan Gronlund

Acting Chief Operating Officer (01 April 2018 to 30 September 2018)
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NOTE 24: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
(C) REMUNERATION OF BOARD MEMBERS AND EXECUTIVES
Remuneration paid or payable or otherwise made available to responsible persons and executive officers of the entity:
Economic Entity
2018

2017

Number

Number

9

10

Nil to $79,999

6

7

$80,000 to $99,999

3

1

$100,000 to $169,999

1

4

$170,000 to $199,999

1

3

$220,000 to $239,999

2

3

$320,000 to 339,999

1

-

$380,000 to $399,999

-

1

Remuneration of Council Members
Nil to $79,999
Remuneration of Executives

The remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer is disclosed in Remuneration of Executives as the remuneration relates to his role as the Chief
ExecutiveOfficer.
Note

Economic Entity
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

1,362

2,375

140

204

37

49

92

-

1,631

2,628

(D) KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits

8

8

Termination benefits
Total
8

Post-employment benefits and other long-term benefits have been included as part of key management personnel compensation (AASB124.19).

NOTE 25: REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
During the year, the following fees were payable for services provided by the auditor to Batchelor Institute:
Audit the financial statements
Fees payable to the Northern Territory Auditor-General’s Office
Audit and review of financial reports

40

70

40

70

20

-

Fees payable to KPMG

11

3

Fees payable to Merit Partners

3

21

74

94
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Total paid for audit
Other audit services
Fees payable for other audit services
Fees payable to Australian Skills Quality Authority

Total paid for audit

NOTE 26: CONTINGENCIES
There were no known material contingent liabilities as at the 31 December 2018.

Economic Entity
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

NOTE 27: COMMITMENTS
(A) LEASE COMMITMENTS
All leases entered into by Batchelor Institute are operating leases. Batchelor Institute does not have any finance leases. Motor vehicle
operating leases have been included in these statements as the Batchelor Institute is contractually obliged to pay.
Operating leases
Motor vehicles

908

1,166

177

255

1,085

1,421

Within one year

485

539

Between one and five years

600

882

1,085

1,421

Office equipment
Total operating leases
Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

Future minimum lease commitments

NOTE 28: ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY
Batchelor Institute is funded predominantly by annual appropriations from both the Australian and Northern Territory Governments to
meet proposed cash expenditure on both operational and capital items in the current financial year. Also, the Northern Territory Government
Department of Corporate and Information Services (DCIS) provides certain services and resources to Batchelor Institute at no charge (refer
Note 14). This general purpose financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis in the expectation that such funding and support
will continue. The future operations of Batchelor Institute are dependent upon the achievement of operating surpluses and positive operating
cash flows. Batchelor Institute has no reason to believe that it will not continue to receive the support of the Australian and Northern Territory
Governments and will not be able to generate operating surpluses and positive cash flows in the future.

NOTE 29: EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
There were no material events after balance date required to be incorporated into the Financial Statements or disclosed in the Notes to the
Financial Statements.
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Note

Economic Entity
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

NOTE 30: RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING RESULT AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH
FLOWS (USED IN) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net result for the period

(1,238)

(209)

Depreciation and amortisation

10

1,669

1,761

Impairment of assets

12

249

-

680

1,552

4,759

(1,825)

Decrease/(Increase) in other operating assets

70

65

(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables

551

(1,461)

(Decrease)/Increase in provisions

(552)

(223)

(Decrease)/Increase in other liabilities

1,543

643

6,371

(2,801)

7,051

(1,249)

Change in operating assets and liabilities
Decrease/(Increase) in receivables

Net cash from (used in) operating activities

NOTE 31: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Batchelor Institute’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, short term money market investments, accounts receivable
and payables. The main risks that Batchelor is exposed to through financial instruments are credit risk and interest rate risk though, as set out
below, these risks are minimal.
Batchelor Institute is almost entirely dependent on government funding, with only a small amount of student fees and no foreign exchange
dealings. Batchelor Institute has a policy of investing surplus cash only in secured term deposits. Therefore, Batchelor Institute’s management
of its financial risk is managed by ensuring cash flow is adequate through receiving government funds in a timely manner and investing in
interest bearing bills that mature as required. This is managed by the financial services section of the Batchelor Institute with all bills purchased
through National Australia Bank.
(A) CREDIT RISK
At the end of the financial year, Batchelor Institute’s maximum exposure to credit risk to each class of recognised financial asset is the carrying
amount of those assets as indicated in the statement of financial position.
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to Batchelor Institute. The
carrying amount of the financial assets recorded in the statement of financial position, net of any provision for losses, represents Batchelor
Institute’s maximum exposure to credit risk. To manage credit risk associated with its cash balances, Batchelor Institute deposits its funds with
Australia’s Big 4 banks or Government guaranteed financial institutions. Batchelor Institute also requires students to pay all debts prior to
graduating, minor debts are written off.
(B) INTEREST RATE RISK
Batchelor Institute has no debt and therefore no interest rate risk in this regard. In terms of investment, the level of risk relates to the movement
in interest rates earned on income deposited and the timeliness of grant payments paid to Batchelor Institute. The impact on Batchelor Institute
is immaterial.
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NOTE 31: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(B) INTEREST RATE RISK (CONTINUED)
Summarised sensitivity analysis
The following tables summarise the sensitivity of the financial assets to interest rate risk
Interest rate risk
Carrying amount

+1% Result

+1% Equity

-1% Result

-1% Equity

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

10,066

101

101

(101)

(101)

-

-

-

-

-

10,066

101

101

(101)

(101)

3,457

35

35

(35)

(35)

-

-

-

-

-

3,457

35

35

(35)

(35)

31 December 2018
Cash and cash equivalents
Term deposits
Total increase/(decrease)
31 December 2017
Cash and cash equivalents
Term deposits
Total increase/(decrease)

(C) LIQUIDITY RISK
Batchelor Institute receives over 77.2% of its funding in government grants and therefore is able to manage its liquidity risk based on known
income and approximate payment dates. Funds which are surplus to operating requirements are invested until required. Budget management
processes are in place so as to guard against the risk of over expenditure.
The following tables summarise the maturity of Batchelor Institute’s financial assets and liabilities:
Fixed Interest Rate Maturity
2018

Average
Interest
Rate

Variable
Less than 1
Interest
1 to 5 Years
Year
Rate

More than
5 Years

NonInterest
Bearing

Total

%

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

1.50

10,066

-

-

-

-

10,066

Short term money market

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Term deposits

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Receivables

-

-

-

-

-

935

935

-

10,066

-

-

-

935

11,001

-

-

-

-

-

1,796

1,796

-

-

-

-

-

1,796

1,796

Financial assets
Cash at bank

Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Payables
Total financial liabilities
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NOTE 31: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(C) LIQUIDITY RISK (CONTINUED)
Fixed Interest Rate Maturity
2017

Average
Interest
Rate

Variable
Interest
Rate

%

$’000

Less than 1
1 to 5 Years
Year
$’000

$’000

More than
5 Years

NonInterest
Bearing

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

Financial assets
1.50

3,457

-

-

-

-

3,457

Short term money market

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Term deposits

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Receivables

-

-

-

-

-

6,370

6,370

-

3,457

-

-

-

6,370

9,827

-

-

-

-

-

1,244

1,244

-

-

-

-

-

1,244

1,244

Cash at bank

Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Payables
Total financial liabilities

NOTE 32: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(A) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The fair value financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes. Due to
the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying value approximates their fair value and based on credit history it is expected that
the receivables that are neither past due nor impaired will be received when due. The carrying amounts and aggregate fair values of financial
assets and liabilities at balance date are:

Economic Entity

Carrying Amount / Net Fair Value
2018

2017

$’000

$’000

10,066

3,457

Short term money market

-

-

Term deposits

-

-

935

6,370

11,001

9,827

1,796

1,244

1,796

1,244

Financial assets
Cash at bank

Receivables
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Payables
Total financial liabilities

Batchelor Institute measures and recognises the following assets at fair value on a recurring basis:
Land and buildings
[[ Infrastructure
[[ Heritage and cultural assets
[[

(B) FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
Batchelor Institute categorises assets and liabilities measured at fair value into a hierarchy based on the level of inputs used in measurements.
[[ level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
[[ level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
[[ level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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NOTE 32: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
(B) FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (CONTINUED)
(i) Recognised fair value measurements
Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position are categorised into the following levels at 31 December 2018.
Comparative information for non-financial assets has not been provided as permitted by the transitional provisions of the new standard.
Note

2018

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Recurring fair value measurements
Non-financial assets
Land

18

985

-

985

-

Buildings

18

27,483

-

27,483

-

Infrastructure

18

1,073

-

1,073

-

Heritage and cultural assets

18

752

-

752

-

30,293

-

30,293

-

Total non-financial assets

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 for recurring fair value measurements during the year. Batchelor Institute’s policy is to recognise
transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the reporting period.
(C) VALUATION TECHNIQUES USED TO DERIVE LEVEL 2 FAIR VALUES
The fair value of non-financial assets is determined using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable
market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.
Land and buildings, infrastructure, and heritage and cultural assets are shown at fair value based on periodic, but at least quinquennial
valuations by independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings and infrastructure. At the end of each reporting period, Batchelor
Institute updates the assessment of the fair value of each property, taking into account the most recent independent valuations. Batchelor
Institute determines the property’s value within a range of reasonable fair value estimates. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of
revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.
The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active market for similar properties. Where such information is not available Batchelor
Institute considers information from a variety of sources, including:
[[ depreciated replacement cost for land and buildings, and infrastructure. It involves a calculation for the current cost of replacing an asset
with its modern equivalent asset, and less deductions for all physical deterioration and all relevant forms of obsolescence and optimisation.
[[ a sales comparison approach for heritage and cultural assets, based on secondary-market evidence and depreciation trends. It considers the
sales of similar or substitute assets and related market data, and establishes a value estimate by processes involving comparison. In general,
an asset being valued is compared with sales of similar assets that have been transacted in the open market.
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NOTE 33: ACQUITTAL OF AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE
NOTE 33.1: EDUCATION - CGS AND OTHER EDUCATION GRANTS
Economic Entity
National Institutes
Funding

Financial Assistance received in cash
during reporting period (total cash received
from the Australian Government for the
Programs)
Net accrual adjustments
Revenue for the period
Surplus from the previous year
Total revenue including accrued revenue
Less expenses including accrued expenses
Surplus for reporting period

Indigenous Student
Success Program*

Total

Other**

2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

7,362

7,253

234

201

-

50

7,596

7,504

-

-

(20)

-

-

-

(20)

-

7,362

7,253

214

201

-

50

7,576

7,504

-

-

48

-

51

7

99

7

7,362

7,253

262

201

51

57

7,675

7,511

7,362

7,253

242

153

17

6

7,621

7,412

-

-

20

48

34

51

54

99

* Indigenous Student Success Program replaced the Indigenous Commonwealth Scholarships Program and the Indigenous Support Program as of 1 January 2018.
The Funding disclosure was ommitted in 2017 however it was included in Financial Statements.
**Other funding includes Promotion of Excellence in Learning and Teaching in HE - Grants. 2017 revenue was disclosed against Joint Research Engagement Program.

NOTE 33.2: HIGHER EDUCATION LOAN PROGRAMS (EXCLUDING OS-HELP)
Economic Entity
Total

VET Fee-Help
2018

2017

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Cash Payable/ (receivable) at beginning of year

-

-

-

-

Financial Assistance received in cash during the reporting period

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1

-

1

-

(1)

-

(1)

Cash available for the period
Revenue earned
Cash (receivable) at end of year
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NOTE 33.3: DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION AND TRAINING RESEARCH
Economic Entity
Research Training
Program*

Financial Assistance received in cash during reporting
period (total cash received from the Australian
Government for the Programs)
Net accrual adjustments
Revenue for the period
Surplus/ (deficit) from the previous year
Total revenue including accrued revenue
Less expenses including accrued expenses
Surplus/ (deficit) for reporting period

Research Support
Program**

Total

2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

148

185

140

144

288

329

-

-

-

-

-

-

148

185

140

144

288

329

22

123

76

114

98

237

170

308

216

258

386

566

203

286

41

182

244

468

(33)

22

175

76

142

98

* Research Training Program Includes Australian Postgraduate Awards and Research Training Scheme
** The reported surplus of $175K for Research Support Program is expected to be rolled over for future use by Batchelor Institute
As of 1 January 2017, Research Support Program replaced Joint Research Engagement Program, Research Infrastructure Block Grants and Sustainable Research
Excellence in Universities.

33.3 TOTAL HIGHER EDUCATION PROVIDER RESEARCH TRAINING PROGRAM EXPENDITURE
Total domestic Total overseas
students
students
Research Training Program Fees offsets
Research Training Program Stipends
Research Training Program Allowances
Total for all types of support
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$’000

$’000

95

–

102

–

6

–

203

–

STATEMENT BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2018
1. In my opinion:
(a) the accompanying financial statements of the Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary Education (Batchelor Institute) are drawn up so as to
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs as at 31 December 2018, and the results for the year ended on that date, of Batchelor Institute, and
(b) at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that Batchelor Institute will be able to pay its debts as and when they
fall due.
2. The accompanying financial statements and notes thereto of Batchelor Institute have been made out in accordance with the Batchelor
Institute of Indigenous Tertiary Education Act 1999, Australian Accounting Standards, the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission
Act 2012 and as per the Department of Education and Training Financial Statement Guidelines for Australian Higher Education Providers for
the 2018 Reporting Period.
3. The amount of Australian Government financial assistance expended during the reporting period was for the purpose(s) for which it was
provided.
4. Batchelor Institute has complied with the requirements of various program guidelines that apply to the Australian Government financial
assistance identified in the financial statements.

Signed at Batchelor this 7th day of June 2019.

Professor Steven Larkin
Chief Executive Officer
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AUDITORS REPORTS
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